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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Members of Delhivery Private Limited
Report on the Audit of the Standalone Ind AS Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the accompanying standalone Ind AS financial statements of Delhivery Private
Limited (“the Company”), which comprise the Balance sheet as at March 31 2019, the Statement of
Profit and Loss, including the statement of Other Comprehensive Income, the Cash Flow Statement and
the Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information in which are
included the returns for the year ended on that date audited by the branch auditors of the Company’s
branch located at Dubai.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us and
based on the consideration of reports of other auditors on separate financial statements and on the other
financial information of the branch, the aforesaid standalone Ind AS financial statements give the
information required by the Companies Act, 2013, as amended (“the Act”) in the manner so required
and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India,
of the state of affairs of the Company as at March 31, 2019, its loss including other comprehensive
income, its cash flows and the changes in equity for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit of the standalone Ind AS financial statements in accordance with the Standards
on Auditing (SAs), as specified under section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those
Standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Ind
AS Financial Statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with
the ‘Code of Ethics’ issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India together with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements under the provisions of the Act
and the Rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the standalone Ind AS financial
statements.

“Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon”

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the Directors’ report, but does not include the standalone Ind AS
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the standalone Ind AS financial statements does not cover the other information and we
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the standalone Ind AS financial statements, our responsibility is to read
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether such other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.




S.R. BATLIBOI & ASSOCIATES LLP

Chartered Accountants

Responsibility of Management for the Standalone Ind AS Financial Statements

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in section 134(5) of the Act
with respect to the preparation of these standalone Ind AS financial statements that give a true and fair
view of the financial position, financial performance including other comprehensive income, cash flows
and changes in equity of the Company in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted
in India, including the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) specified under section 133 of the Act
read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended. This responsibility
also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act
for safeguarding of the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other
irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and
estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate
internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness
of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the standalone Ind AS financial
statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the standalone Ind AS financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate
the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Ind AS Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the standalone Ind AS financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these standalone Ind AS financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the standalone Ind AS financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

*  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also
responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the Company has adequate internal financial
controls system in place and the operating effectiveness of such controls.

» Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

¢ Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going
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concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to
cease to continue as a going concern.

* Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the standalone Ind AS financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the standalone Ind AS financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

Other Matter

We did not audit the financial statements and other financial information of 1 branch included in the
accompanying standalone Ind AS financial statements of the Company whose financial statements and
other financial information reflect total assets of Rs. 190 Lakhs as at March 31, 2019 and the total
revenues of Rs. Nil for the year ended on that date, as considered in the financial statements of this
branch have been audited by the branch auditor whose report has been furnished to us, and our opinion
in so far as it relates to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of branch, is based solely on the
report of such branch auditor. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1. Asrequired by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2016 (“the Order”), issued by the Central
Government of India in terms of sub-section (11) of section 143 of the Act based on our audit and
on the consideration of report of the other auditors on separate financial statements and the other
financial information of branch, as noted in the ‘Other Matter’ paragraph, we give in the
“Annexure 1” a statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order.

2. Asrequired by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report that:

(a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit;

(b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so
far as it appears from our examination of those books and proper returns adequate for the
purposes of our audit have been received from the branch not visited by us;

(c) The report on the accounts of the branch office of the Company audited under Section 143(8)
of the Act by branch auditor have been sent to us and have been properly dealt with by us in
preparing this report;

(d) The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss including the Statement of Other
Comprehensive Income, the Cash Flow Statement and Statement of Changes in Equity dealt
with by this Report are in agreement with the books of account and with the return received
from the branch not visited by us;
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(¢) In our opinion, the aforesaid standalone Ind AS financial statements comply with the
Accounting Standards specified under Section 133 of the Act, read with Companies (Indian
Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended;

(f) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on March 3 I, 2019
taken on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on
March 31, 2019 from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164 (2) of the Act;

(g) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls over financial reporting of the
Company with reference to these standalone Ind AS financial statements and the operating
effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in “Annexure 2” to this report;

(h) The provisions of section 197 read with Schedule V of the Act are not applicable to the
Company for the year ended March 31, 2019;

(i) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with
Rule 11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, as amended in our opinion and to
the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us:

i.  The Company has disclosed the impact of pending litigations on its financial position in
its standalone Ind AS financial statements — Refer Note 32 to the standalone Ind AS
financial statements;

ii.  The Company did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for
which there were any material foreseeable losses;

lii. ~ There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education
and Protection Fund by the Company.

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm Registration Number: 101049W/E300004

il

per Yogesh Midha

Partner

Membership Number: 094941
UDIN: 19094941 AAAAEJ5880
Place of Signature: New Delhi
Date: September 27, 2019
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Annexure 1 referred to in paragraph 1 under the heading “Report on other legal and
regulatory requirements” of our report of even date

Re: Delhivery Private Limited (‘the company”)

(1) (a) The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars, including
quantitative details and situation of fixed assets.

(b) All fixed assets were physically verified by the management in the previous years in
accordance with a planned programme of verifying them once in three years which,
in our opinion, is reasonable having regard to the size of the Company and the nature
of its assets. No material discrepancies were noticed on such verification.

(¢) According to the information and explanations given by the management, there are
no immovable properties, included in property, plant and equipment of the company
and accordingly, the requirements under paragraph 3(i)(c) of the Order are not
applicable to the Company.

(ii) The management has conducted physical verification of inventory at reasonable
intervals during the year and no material discrepancies were noticed on such physical
verification.

(iii) (a) The Company has granted loan that is repayable on demand, to a company covered in
the register maintained under section 189 of the Companies Act, 2013. In our opinion
and according to the in formation and explanations given to us, the terms and
conditions of the grant of such loans are not prejudicial to the company's interest,

(b) The Company has granted loan that is re-payable on demand, to a company covered
in the register maintained under section 189 of the Companies Act, 2013. The loan
along with interest accrued on loan are repayable on demand. We are informed that
the company has not demanded repayment of any such loan and interest during the
year, and thus, there has been no default on the part of the party to whom the money
has been lent.

(¢) There are no amounts of loans granted to companies, firms or other parties listed in
the register maintained under section 189 of the Companies Act, 2013 which are
overdue for more than ninety days.

(iv) [n our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us,
provisions of section 185 and 186 of the Companies Act 2013 in respect of loans to
directors including entities in which they are interested and in respect of loans and
advances given have been complied with by the company.

(v) The Company has not accepted any deposits within the meaning of Sections 73 to 76
of the Act and the Companies (Acceptance of Deposits) Rules, 2014 (as amended).
Accordingly, the provisions of clause 3(v) of the Order are not applicable.

(vi) To the best of our knowledge and as explained, the Company is not in the business of
sale of any goods. Therefore, in our opinion, the provisions of clause 3(vi) of the
Order are not applicable to the Company.
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(vii) (a) The Company is regular in depositing with appropriate authorities undisputed
statutory dues including provident fund, employees’ state insurance, income-tax,
service tax, goods & service tax, duty of custom, professional tax and labor welfare
fund, cess and other statutory dues applicable to it. As informed to us the provisions
of duty of excise are not applicable to the company.

(b) According to the information and explanations given to us, no undisputed amounts
payable in respect of provident fund, employees’ state insurance, income-tax, service
tax, goods & service tax, sales-tax, professional tax, labor welfare fund, value added
tax, cess and other statutory dues were outstanding, at the year end, for a period of
more than six months from the date they became payable.

(¢) According to the records of the Company, the dues of income-tax on account of any
dispute, are as follows:

Name of | Nature | Amount | Period to | Forum where dispute is
the of the | (Rs.) which the | pending
Statute Dues amount
relates
Income Income 18,357 2016-17 CIT (Appeals)
Tax Act | Tax Lakhs
1961

According to the information and explanations given to us, there are no dues of
sales-tax, goods & service tax, customs duty, excise duty, value added tax and
cess which have not been deposited on account of any dispute.

(viii) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given by the
management, the Company has not defaulted in repayment of loans or borrowings to
a financial institution or bank. The Company did not have any outstanding loans or
borrowing dues to government or dues to debenture holders during the year.

(ix) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given by the
management, the Company has utilized the monies raised by way of term loans for
the purposes for which they were raised. The Company has not raised any money by
way of initial public offer / further public offer / debt instruments.

(x) Based upon the audit procedures performed for the purpose of reporting the true and
fair view of the financial statements and according to the information and
explanations given by the management, we report that no fraud by the company or no
material fraud on the company by the officers and employees of the Company has
been noticed or reported during the year.

(xi) According to the information and explanations given by the management, the
provisions of section 197 read with Schedule V of the Act is not applicable to the
company and hence reporting under clause 3(xi) are not applicable and hence not
commented upon.
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(xii)

(xiii)

(xiv)

(xv)

(xvi)

In our opinion, the Company is not a nidhi company. Therefore, the provisions of
clause 3(xii) of the order are not applicable to the Company and hence not
commented upon.

According to the information and explanations given by the management,
transactions with the related parties are in compliance with section 188 of Companies
Act, 2013 where applicable and the details have been disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements, as required by the applicable accounting standards. The
provisions of section 177 of Companies Act, 2013 are not applicable to the Company
and accordingly reporting under clause 3(xiii) insofar as it relates to section 177 of
the Act is not applicable to the Company and hence not commented upon.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on an overall
examination of the balance sheet, the company has not made any preferential
allotment or private placement of shares or fully or partly convertible debentures
during the year under review and hence, reporting requirements under clause 3(xiv)
are not applicable to the company and, not commented upon.

According to the information and explanations given by the management, the
Company has not entered into any non-cash transactions with directors or persons
connected with him as referred to in section 192 of Companies Act, 2013.

According to the information and explanations given to us, the provisions of section
45-IA of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 are not applicable to the Company.

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP
ICAI Firm Registration Number: 101049W/E300004
Chartered Accountants

per Yogesh Midha

Partner

Membership Number: 094941
UDIN: 19094941AAAAEJ5880

Place of Signature: New Delhi
Date: September 27, 2019
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ANNEXURE TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT OF EVEN DATE ON THE
STANDALONE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF DELHIVERY PRIVATE LIMITED

Report on the Internal Financial Controls under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act™)

We have audited the internal financial controls over financial reporting of Delhivery Private Limited (“the
Company™) as of March 31,2019 in conjunction with our audit of the standalone financial statements of the
Company for the year ended on that date.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The Company’s Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls based on
the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company considering the essential
components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial
Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. These responsibilities include the design,
implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively for
ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to the Company’s policies, the
safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the
accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Companies
Act, 2013.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal financial controls over financial reporting
with reference to these standalone financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance
with the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting (the “Guidance Note™)
and the Standards on Auditing as specified under section 143(10) of the Companies Act, 2013, to the extent
applicable to an audit of internal financial controls and, both issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
India. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls over financial
reporting with reference to these standalone financial statements was established and maintained and if such
controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial
controls over financial reporting with reference to these standalone financial statements and their operating
effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding
of internal financial controls over financial reporting with reference to these standalone financial statements,
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness
of internal control based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion on the internal financial controls over financial reporting with reference to these standalone financial
statements.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting with Reference to these Financial
Statements

A company's internal financial control over financial reporting with reference to these standalone financial
statements is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company's internal financial control over financial reporting with reference to these standalone
financial statements includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2)
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
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statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the
company are being made only in accordance with authorisations of management and directors of the company;
and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use,
or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting with Reference to these
Standalone Financial Statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls over financial reporting with reference to these
standalone financial statements, including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of
controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any
evaluation of the internal financial controls over financial reporting with reference to these standalone financial
statements to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial control over financial reporting with
reference to these standalone financial statements may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Opinion

In our opinion, the Company has, in all material respects, adequate internal financial controls over financial
reporting with reference to these standalone financial statements and such internal financial controls over financial
reporting with reference to these standalone financial statements were operating effectively as at March 31, 2019,
based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company considering the essential
components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial
Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm Registration Number: 101049W/E300004

per Yogesh Midha

Partner

Membership Number: 094941
UDIN: 19094941 AAAAEJ5880
Place of Signature: New Delhi
Date: September 27, 2019




Delhivery Private Limited
Standalone Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2019

(All amounts in Indian Rupees in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Notes March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 3 16,103 9,823
Capital work in progress 88 571
Goodwill 4 1,638 -
Other Intangible assets 4 1,111 191
Financial assets
Investments 5 115,046 13,797
Loans 8 273 331
Other financial assets 9 20,300 12,801
Prepayments and other assets 11 1,329 417
155,888 37,931
Current assets
Inventories 6 2,263 1,696
Financial assets
Invesiments 5 1,002 14,643
Trade receivables 7 21,157 16,175
Cash and cash equivalent 12 165,967 450
Bank balances other than "Cash & cash equivalent" 13 79 37
Loans 9 938 938
Other financial assets 8 18,170 33,087
Current Tax assets 10 5,963 3,677
Prepayments and other assets 1 6,144 5,251
221,683 75,954
Total assets 377,571 113,885
Equity and liabilities
Equity
Equity share capital 14 96 96
Instruments entirely equity in nature 14 3,917 -
Other Equity 15 338,085 (217,766)
Total equity 342,098 (217,670)
Non-current liabilities
Financial Liabilities
Borrowings 16 3,562 879
Trade Payables 20 248 199
Share Buy Back Obligations 17 - 297,400
Long term provisions 18 1,641 1,100
Other non-current Liabilities 19 756 940
6,207 300,518
Current liabilities
Financial Liabilities
Borrowings 16 2,879 3,197
Trade Payables . 20
Total outstanding dues of micro and small enterprises 6 -
Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro and small enterprises 18,711 18,451
Other current financial liabilities 17 2,958 642
Provisions 18 123 81
Other Current Liabilities 19 4,589 8,666
29,266 31,037
Total liabilities 35,473 331,555
Total equity and liabilities 377,571 113,885
Summary of significant accounting policies 2.3

The accompanying noles are an integral part of the standalone financial statements.

As per our report of even date

For S.R.Batliboi & Associates LLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm registration number : 101049W/E300004

per Yogesh Midha
Partner
Membership no : 094941

Place : New Delhi

For and on behalf of the board of directors of
Delhivery Private Limited

Sandeep Kumar Barasia
Director

st

D

Sahil Barua

Director
e O
~~

Deepak Manglani



Delhivery Private Limited
Standalone Statement of Profit and loss for the year ended March 31, 2019
(All amounts in Indian Rupees in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

[ Notes March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

Revenue from contracts with customers 21 165,383 101,938

Other Income 22 4,114 5,142

Total Income (1) 169,497 107,080

Expenses

Employee benefits expense 23 35,537 27914

Fair value loss on Share Buy Back Obligations at fair value through profit or loss 148,066 42,909

Other expenses 24 151,629 98,845

Total (II) 335,232 169,668

Loss before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) (I)-(1I) 165,735 62,588

Depreciation and amortisation expense 25 9,220 4,686

Finance Costs 26 1,879 1,172

Loss before exceptional items and tax (I1I) 176,834 68,446

Exceptional Items

Provision for Diminution in valuation of non-current investment 27 1,270

Total (IV) 1,270 -

Loss before Tax (III+IV) 178,104 68,446

Tax Expense

Current Tax -

Deferred Tax =

Total Tax Expense - S

Loss for the year 178,104 68,446

Other comprehensive income/(loss):

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Re-measurement gain/(loss) on defined benefit plan (1) 14

Income tax effect . -

Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (22) 21

Income tax effect - -

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year (23) 35

Total comprehensive loss for the year 178,127 68,411

Loss per share 28

Basic, computed on the basis of loss for the year 3,466 7,148

Diluted, computed on the basis of loss for the year 3,386 6,607

Summary of significant accounting policies 23

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the standalone financial statements.

As per our report of even date

For S.R.Batliboi & Associates LLP For and on behalf of the board of directors of

Chartered Accountants Delhivery Private Limited

ICAI Firm registration number : 101049W/E300004

per Yogesh Midha andeep Kumar Barasia Suhil Barua

Partner Director Director

Membership no : 094941 — ) -\

Vo

P/ S o A

Place : New Delhi Jjith Pai Deepak Manglani

Date : September 27, 2019 CFO Company Secretary



Delhivery Private Limited
Standalone Cash Flow Statement for the year ended March 31, 2019
(All amounts in Indian Rupees in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

March 31, 2019 March 31,2018
A)  Operating activities
Loss before tax (178,104) (68,446)
Adjustment to reconcile loss before tax to net cash fows
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 8,948 4,551
Amortization of intangible assets 272 135
Provision for doubtful debts 2,754 637
Bad debt written off 361 678
Provision for doubtful advances 76 173
Provision for diminution in value of non-current investments 1,270 &
Share Based Payment Expense 3,794 5,148
Interest expense 972 329
Unrealised Gain on Investment at Fair Value through Profit and Loss (101) (144)
Interest Income (3,285) (3,881)
Interest income on Unwinding of discount on security deposits paid (202) (349)
Gain on sale of current investments (247) (609)
Re-measurement gain on defined benefit plan (8] 14
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (22) 21
Fair value loss on Share Buy Back Obligations at fair value through profit or loss 148,066 42,909
Fair value loss on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 1,071 213
Loss/(Profit) on disposal of property, plant and equipment/ Assets written off %) 58
Operating loss before working capital changes (14,382) (18,564)
Movements in working capital :
(Increase)/Decrease in Inventories (567) (849)
(Increase)/Decrease in trade and other receivables (8,097) (8,036)
(Increase) in other financial assets (3,635) (2,592)
(Increase) in other assets (1,245) (1,836)
Decrease/ (Increase) in Loans 58 132
Increase in trade payables 59) 5,263
Increase/(Decrease) in other liabilities (4,078) 4,872
Increase in provisions 584 415
Cash used in operations (31,421) (21,195)
Income taxes paid (2.286) (635)
Net cash used in operating activities (A) (33,707) (21,829)
B) Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant & equipment (including Other Intangible assets, capital
work in progress and capital advances) (15,661) (9,334)
Payment towards acquisition of business (2,654) -
Investment in subsidiaries and associates (581) (639)
Proceeds on sale of financial assets - Liquid mutual fund units, debt instruments 29,102 22,828
Payment to acquire financial assets - Liquid mutual fund units, debt instruments (118,122) (32,524)
Maturity of Bank Deposits (having original maturity of more than 12 months)
including Margin Money Deposits 28,052 30,436
Investments in Bank Deposits (having original maturity of more than 12 months)
including Margin Money Deposits (16,871) (28,648)
(Investment)/Maturity of bank deposits (having original maturity of more than 3
months) 42) 90
Interest Received 3,285 3,881
Net cash used in investing activities (B) (93,494) (13,910)
C) TFinancing activities
Proceeds from issuance of equity share capital (stock options exercised) - 63
Proceeds tirom issuance of preference shares under share buyback obligation - 17,380
Proceeds from issuance of share capital (Instruments entirely equity in nature) 289,010 -
Proceeds from long term borrowings (net of current maturities of Rs. 2,278 Lakhs (PY: Rs. 564 Lakhs)) 4,962 1,342
Interest paid (935) (329)
Repayments of short term borrowings (3,197) (1,011)
Proceeds from short lerm borrowings 2,879 3,197
Net cash flows from financing activities (C) 292,719 20,643
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) 165,517 (15,097)
Cash and cash equivalents al beginning of the year 450 15.547
Cash and cash equivalenis at end of the year (refer Note 12) 165,967 450

(This space has been intentionally left blank)




Delhivery Private Limited

Standalone Cash Flow Statement for the year ended March 31, 2019
(All amounts in Indian Rupees in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

March 31,2019

March 31, 2018

Non-cash financing activitics
Fair value change in share buyback obligations

Amendment to Ind AS 7

148,066

42,909

Effective April 1 2017, the Company adopted the amendment to Ind AS 7, which requires the entities to provide disclosures that enable users of financial
statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes, suggesting
inclusions of a reconciliation between the opening and closing balances in the Balance sheet for liabilities arising from financing activities, to meet the

disclosure requirement, which is as below:

Particulars March 31, 2019 Cash Flows March 31, 2018
Long-term borrowings (including current maturity) 6,483 4.962 1,521
Short-term borrowings 2,879 (318) 3,197

9,362 4,644 4,718
Summary of significant accounting policies 23

The accompanying notes are an infegral part of the standalone financial statements.

As per our report of even date

For S.R.Batliboi & Associates LLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm registration number : 101049W/E300004

per Yogesh Midha
Partner
Membership no : 094941

Place : New Delhi
Date : September 27, 2019

For and on behalf of the board of directors of
Delhivery Private Limited

andecp Kumar Barasia
Director

Sahil Barua
Director

Ajith Pai
CFO

Decpak Manglani
Company Secretary




Delhlvery Private Limlted
Standalone Statement of changes In equily for the year ended March

31, 2019

(All amounts in Indian Rupees in lakhs, unless otlierwise staled)

A, Equlty Sharc Capltal (refer note 14)

Eqully Share Capital

Equity shares of Rs. 10 each Issned, subscribed and fully pald
At March 31, 2017

Add: Issued during the year (stock options exercised)

Number

953,132
5,263

(Rs, Lakhs)

Lk

AL 31 March 2018
Add: Issued during the year

956,395

96

At 31 March 2019

958,395

96

Instruments Entirely Equlty In Nature - 0.001% Cuniulaflve
Compulsorlly Converlible Preference Shares (CCCPS) of
Rs.10/- each (Serles A) Issued, subscribed and fully pald

At March 31, 2017

Add: Tssued during Lhe year

AL 31 March 2018

Add: Converied to Investment entirely equity in nature during, the year
At 31 March 2019

Instruments Eniirely Equlty In Nature - 0.001% Cumulatlve
Compulsorlly Converilble Preference Shares (CCCPS) of
Rs.100 each ( Serles B, C, D, D1, E and F) Issued, subsciibed
and fully paid

At March 31, 2017

Add: Issued during the year
AL 31 March 2018

Add: Converled to Investnent entirely equily in nature during the year
A(31 March 2019

=

Other Equlty (refer nole15)

For the vear ended March 31, 2009

Number

(Rs. Lakhs)

281667

2

291,667

29

Number

(Rs. Lakhs)

3,888,068

3,888

3,888,068

3,868

Atirbutable to e douity holders of the Company Items of OCI
Descriptton Reserves nind Surpins Total
Securltles premlum Employee Stock Relalned earnings Forelgn currency
aptions oufstanding translationml peserve
Balauceas at April 1, 2018 9,292 5,869 (232,976) 51 (217,766}
Loss for the year - - (178.104) < (178.104),
Otlier comprehiensive Income/(loss)
R paing/(losses) on detined benefit plans - (1) - (1}
Exchange differences on translation of loreign operalions - - - (22} (22)
Tolal comprehenslve lncome/(loss) - (178,105} 29 (395.894)
Add: Securities premium on conversion CCCPS from Financial
Liability to Instruments enlirely equity in natire 443.007] 443,007
Add: Securities premium on CCCPS issued during the year (Series
F 287,552 L - - 287,552
| Share issnes Expenses (374} 4 - 4 [
Adki: Shore basod payment expenn 3,794 - - 379
Balance as at March 31, 2019 739.477 9,663 (411,083) 29 338,085
Tor dhe y iled March 31, 2018
Attribmtatde to tho equity liolders of the Company Ttems of OCI
Description Reserves and Surplusy Total
SecurlUes premlum Employee Stock Retalned earnings Forelgn currency
opllons outstanding trapslational reserve
Balance as al March 31, 2017 8847 1,103 (164,547) 30 (154,567)
Lass for Lhe year s - (68,446)/ - (68446
Otlier comprehenslve Income/(loss)
Re-measuremenl paing/(losses) on defined benefil plans - - 14 L 14
Exelumges differéneas on transkition of foreipn operations - - - 21 21
Total comprehenslve lucome/(lass) (68,431) 21 (68,411))
Adid: Share based payment experse - 5148 __- - - 5,148}
Add: ESOPs exercised [(ransferred Rs. 382.42 Lakhs (31March
2017: Rs_Nil) from Employee stock options ding) 445 - . 445
Less: Uansferred to necurilien prertitn o exercise of stock oo
<] (382) - = (382)
Balance as al March 31, 2018 9,292 5.869 232,978) 51 217.766)
'y of signiflicant ace g polldes
The accompanying notes are an inlegral part of the standalone financial statements.
A per our report of even date
For S.R.Balllbol & Assodlales LLP For and on behalf of the board of directors of
Chartered Accouniants Dellivery Private Limiled
[CAI Finn registralion number : 101049W/E300004 s
Jeep Kunmr Bagsi Sutal Bari
Pt et Yinector Dhrecton
Membership no: 094941 1
w
e R
Place : New Delhi AJith Pai Deepak Manglani
CFO Company Secrelary

Date : September 27, 2019
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Delhivery Private Limited
Notes to standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2019

Corporate Information

Delhivery Private Limited (thereinafter referred to as "The Company" or "DELHIVERY"), was incorporated as SSN
Logistics Private Limited on 22nd Day of June 2011 under the provisions of the Companies Act, 1956. The company
changed its name to Delhivery Private Limited as of 8th Day of December 2015. The Company is engaged in the
business of warchousing and last mile logistics and also involved in designing and deploying logistics management
systems, provide logistics and supply chain consulting/advice, provide inbound/procurement support and other
activities of a similar nature.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019, were approved by the Board of Directors and authorized
for issue on September 27, 2019.

Basis of preparation of financial statements and Significant Accounting Policies

Statement of Compliance

In accordance with the notification issued by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs, the Company has adopted Indian
Accountihg Standards (referred to as “Ind AS™) notified under the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards)
Rules, 2015 with effect from 1 April 2017.

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standard (Ind AS), under
the historical cost convention on the accrual basis except certain financial instrument which are measured at fair
values, wherever applicable, at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies below.

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees and all amounts disclosed in the financial statements and
notes have been rounded off to the nearest lakhs (as per the requirement of Schedule III), unless otherwise stated.

Summary of significant accounting policies

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the recognition and measurement principles of Ind
AS requires the management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that effect the reported amounts of
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting
period. Although these estimates are based on the management’s best knowledge of current events and actions,
uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in the outcomes requiring a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets or liabilities in future periods.

Current versus non-current classification

The Company presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet based on current/ non-current classification. An
asset is treated as current when it is:

Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle

Held primarily for the purpose of trading

Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or

Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve
months after the reporting period

ao o

All other assets are classified as non-current.




Delhivery Private Limited
Notes to standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2019

A liability is current when:

a. Itisexpected to be settled in normal operating cycle

b. Itis held primarily for the purpose of trading

¢. Itisdue to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or

d. There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the
reporting period

The Company classifies all other liabilities as non-current.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.

The operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realisation in cash and
cash equivalents. The Company has identified twelve months as its operating cycle.

ii. Foreign currencies

The Company’s financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees. For each foreign branch the Company
determines the functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency, which is the currency of their countries of domicile.

Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency spot rates at the date the
transaction first qualifies for recognition. However, for practical reasons, the company uses an average rate if the
average approximates the actual rate at the date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency spot
rates of exchange at the reporting date.

Exchange differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss with
the exception of the following:

a. Exchange differences arising on monetary items that forms part of a reporting entity’s net investment in a
foreign operation are recognised in profit or loss in the separate financial statements of the reporting entity or the
individual financial statements of the foreign operation, as appropriate. In the financial statements that include
the foreign operation and the reporting entity (e.g., financial statements when the foreign operation is a branch),
such exchange differences are recognised initially in OCI. These exchange differences are reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on disposal of the net investment,

b. Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on those monetary items are also recorded in
OCL.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined. The gain or loss
arising on translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the
gain or loss on the change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation differences on items whose fair value gain or
loss is recognised in OCI or profit or loss are also recognised in OCI or profit or loss, respectively).

Foreign branches

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Indian Rupees at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the reporting date and their statements of profit or loss are translated at exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. For practical reasons, the company uses an average rate to translate
income and expense items, if the average rate approximates the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
The exchange differences arising on translation for consolidation are recognised in OCI. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the component of OCI relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.




Delhivery Private Limited
Notes to standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2019

Cumulative currency translation differences for all foreign operations are deemed to be zero at the date of
transition, viz., 1 April 2016. Gain or loss on a subsequent disposal of any foreign operation excludes translation
differences that arose before the date of transition but includes only translation differences arising after the
transition date

iv. Fair value measurement

The Company measures financial instruments, such as, Investment in cumulative compulsorily convertible
preference shares (CCCPS), Investment in mutual funds, similar financial instruments and share buyback
obligation, at fair value at each balance sheet date.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

a. In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
.b. In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Company.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liabilily, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data
are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorized
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement as a whole:

a. Level 1 — quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

b. Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable
c. Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Company
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorization (based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.

The Company’s management determines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value measurement,
such as cumulative compulsorily convertible preference shares (CCCPS), Investment in mutual funds, similar
financial instruments and share buyback obligation measured at fair value. The team comprises of the CFO and
Finance Controller - Finance.

External valuers are involved for valuation of significant assets and liabilities. Involvement of external valuers
is decided on the basis of nature of transaction and complexity involved. Selection criferia include market
knowledge, reputation, independence and whether professional standards are maintained.
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At each reporting date, the finance team analyses the movements in the values of assets and liabilities which are
required to be remeasured or re-assessed as per the Company’s accounting policies. For this analysis, the team
verifies the major inputs applied in the latest valuation by agreeing the information in the valuation computation
to contracts and other relevant documents. A change in fair value of assets and liabilities is also compared with
relevant external sources to determine whether the change is reasonable.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Company has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the
basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as
explained above.

This note summarizes accounting policy for fair value. Other fair value related disclosures are given in the
relevant notes.

Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE)
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss, if any

Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the plant and equipment. When significant parts of plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Company depreciates them

Separately based on their specific useful lives. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is
recognised in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are
satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Capital work in progress is stated at cost, net of accumulated impairment loss, if any.

Depreciation on all property plant and equipment are provided on a written-down value method based on the
estimated useful life of the asset, which is as follows:

Property, plant and equipment Useful lives estimated by | Useful lives as per
= . | management | Schedule I

Computer 3 3

Computer Server 6 6

Office Equipment 5 5

Furniture and Fixture 5 10 -

Vehicles 3.86 8

Plant and Machinery 5 10

IT Softwares are to be depreciated to its useful life, if known. For all other IT software, 5 years is the useful life
to depreciate such softwares

Leasehold Improvements are amortised over 5 years or life based on lease period.

The useful lives of vehicles, furniture & fixture and plant and machinery are estimated as 3.86, 5 and 5 years
respectively, These lives are lower than those indicated in schedule I1.

The management has estimated the useful lives and residual values of all property, plant and equipment and
adopted useful lives based on management’s assessment of their respective economic useful lives. The residual
values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at each financial
year end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.

Depreciation on the assets purchased during the year is provided on pro-rata basis from the date of purchase of
the assets.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected {rom its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on
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derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset) is included in the income statement when the asset is derecognised.

vi. Intangible assets

Intangible assets (mainly includes softwares) acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method for an Intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at
least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of
consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are considered to modify the amortisation period
or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on
intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the statement of profit and loss unless such expenditure forms
part of carrying value of another asset.

Further, assets assumed in business combination (Non-Compete and Customer relationship) are amortized over
the period of 5 year on WDV basis.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when

the asset is derecognised.
vii.  Business Combinations and goodwill

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, regardless of whether
equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary
comprises the

e fair values of the assets transferred;

e liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business;

e  equity interests issued by the Company; and

e fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with
limited exceptions (measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Company recognises any
non-controlling interest in the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at
the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net identifiable assets. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

However, the following assets and liabilities acquired in a business combination are measured at the basis
indicated below:

e Deferred tax assets or liabilities, and the assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements

are recognised and measured in accordance with Ind AS 12 Income Tax and Ind AS 19 Employee

Benefits respectively

The excess of the
e consideration transferred;
¢ amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity, and
e acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recorded as goodwill. If
those amounts are less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the business acquired, the
difference is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as capital reserve
provided there is clear evidence of the underlying reasons for classifying the business combination as a
bargain purchase. In other cases, the bargain purchase gain is recognised directly in equity as capital
reserve.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
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allocated to each of the Companies cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. A cash
generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently
when there is an indication that the unil may be impaired.

Where settlement of any parl of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are
discounted o their present value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an
independent financier under comparable terms and conditions.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a
financial liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit
or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not re-measured at subsequent reporting
dates and subsequent its settlement is accounted for within equity.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any gains
or losses arising from such remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive income,

as appropriate.
Inventories

Inventories are stated at lower of cost and net realisable value. Inventories primarily consist of packing
material and consumables.

Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is (or contains) a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement
at the inception of the lease. The arrangement is, or contains, a lease if fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent
on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset or assets, even if that
right is not explicitly specified in an arrangement.

Company as a lessee

A lease is classified at the inceplion date as a finance lease or an operating lease. A lease that transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership to the Company is classified as a finance lease.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the statement of profit and loss on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized o depict the transfer of control of promused goods or services Lo customers upon the
satisfaction of performance obligation under the contract in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
entily expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Consideration includes goods or services
contributed by the customer, as non-cash consideration, over which Company has control. The company has
concluded that it is the principal in all of its revenue arrangements since 1t is the primary obligor in all the revenue
arrangements as it has pricing latitude and is also exposced (o inventory and credit risks. Revenue in excess of
billings is recognised as unbilled revenue in the balance sheet; to the extent billings arc in excess of revenue
recognised, the excess is reported as uncarned and delerred revenue in the balance sheet.
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Contract Balances:
Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for services transferred to the customer (which consist
of unbilled revenue). If the company performs by transferring services to a customer before the customer pays
consideration or before payment is due, a contract asset is recognized for the eamed consideration that is
conditional.

Trade receivables

A receivable represents the Company’s right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional (i.e., only the
passage of time is required before payment of the consideration is due). Refer to accounting policies of {inancial
assets in financial instruments — initial recognition and subsequent measurement.

Contract liabilities

A contract liabilily is the obligation to transfer services to a customer for which the Company has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If a customer pays consideration before
the Company transfers services (o the customer, a contract liability is recognised when the payment is made or
the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Company
performs under the contract.

Service Tax/Sales tax/ value added tax (VAT) Goods and service tax (GST) is not received by the company on
its own account. Rather, it is tax collected on value added to the services/commodity by the seller on behalf of
the government. Accordingly, it is excluded from revenue.

The specific recognition criteria described below must also be met before revenue is recognised.
Rendering of Services

Income from services

Revenue is recognized only when the shipments are:

Delivered

Return to origin
Delivered to origin
Collected

B DS e

The company collects service tax on behalf of the government and, therefore, it is not an economic benefit flowing to
the company. Hence, it is excluded from revenue.

Income from Fulfillment center:
Revenue is recognized for fulfilment centers only when the goods are under below stage

1. Storage —revenue is recognized on monthly basis from the date shipment is inbounded
2. Packaging / Order processing — revenue is recognized when the shipment is in outbound stage.
3. Procurement- revenue is recognized when items are picked from vendor location using Delhivery network

Dividend
Dividend income is recognized when the company’s right to receive dividend is established by the reporting date.

Interest

Interest income is recognized using the effective interest method. Interest income is included under the head
“other income” in the statement of profit and loss.
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Retirement and other employee benefits

Retirement benefit in the form of provident fund social security is a defined contribution scheme. The Company
has no obligation, other than the contribution payable to the provident fund/social security. The Company
recognizes contribution payable to the provident fund scheme/ social security scheme as an expense, when an
cmployec renders the related service. If the contribution payable to the scheme for service received before the
balance sheet date exceeds the contribution already paid, the deficit payable 1o the scheme is recognized as a
liability after deducting the contribution already paid. If the contribution already paid exceeds the contribution
due for services received before the balance sheet date, then excess is recognized as an asset to the extent that the
pre-payment will lead to, for example, a reduction in future payment or a cash refund.

The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plan is determined using the projected unit credit method,

Remeasurements, comprising of actuarial gains and losses, excluding amounts included in net interest on the net
defined benefit liability are recognised immediately in the balance sheet with a corresponding debit or credit to
retained earnings through OCI in the period in which they occur. Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or
loss in subsequent periods.

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss on the earlier of:

a. The date of the plan amendment or curtailment, and
b.  The date that the Company recognises related restructuring costs

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability. The Company recognises
the following changes in the net defined benefit obligation as an expense in the statement of profit and loss:

a.  Service costs comprising current service costs, past-service costs, gains and losses on  curtailiments and non-
routine settlements; and
b. Net interest expense

The Company also operates a leave encashment plan. The company treats accumulated leave expected to be
carried forward beyond twelve months, as long-term employee benefit for measurement purposes. The company
measures the expected cost of such absences as the additional amount that it expects to pay as a result of the
unused entitlement that has accumulated at the reporting date.

Taxes
Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities. The lax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or
substantively enacted, al the reporting date in the countries where the Company operates and generates taxable
income.

Current income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss (either
in other comprehensive income or in equity). Current tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying
transaction either in OCI or directly in equily. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax
returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes
provisions where appropriate.

Advance taxes and provisions for current income taxes are presented in the balance sheet after off-setting advance
tax paid and income tax provision arising in the same tax jurisdiction and where the relevant tax paying units
intends 1o settle the asset and liability on a net basis.




xiii.

Delhivery Private Limited
Notes to standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2019

Deferred taxes

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

a. When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss,

b. Inrespect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax credits
and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits
and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

a. When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss,

b. Inrespect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets
are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss (either in other
comprehensive income or in equity). Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction
either in OCI or directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the sanie taxation
authority.

Share based payment

Employees (including senior executives) of the Company receive remuneration in the form of share-based
payments, whereby employees render services as consideration for equity instruments (equity-settled
transactions).

The cost of equity-settled transactions is determined by the fair value at the date when the grant is made using an
appropriate valuation model.

That cost is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in share-based payment (SBP) reserves in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled in employee benefits expense.
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date
reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Company’s best estimate of the number of
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equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The statement of profit and loss expense or credit for a period
represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as al the beginning and end of that period and is
recognised in employee benefits expense.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not laken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Company’s best estimate
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without an associated service requirenient,
are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award
and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance and/or service
condilions have not been mel. Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the transactions are
treated as vested irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other
performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

‘When the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the minimum expense recognised is the expense had the

lerms had not been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. An additional expense is recognised for
any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payment transaction, or is otherwise
beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification. Where an award is cancelled by the entity or
by the counterparty, any remaining element of the fair value of the award is expensed immediately through profit
or loss.

Earnings per share

Basic eamings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit or loss for the period attributable to equity
shareholders (after deducting preference dividends and attributable taxes) by the weighted average number of
cquity shares outstanding during the period.

For the purpose of calculaling diluled carnings per share, the net profit or loss for the period attributable to equity
sharcholders and the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period are adjusted for the effects
of all dilutive potential equity shares,

Provisions and Contingent liabilities
i) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying cconomic benefits will be required 1o setile the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The expense relating (o a provision
is presented in the statement of profit and loss net of any reimbursement.

If the effect of the (ime value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that
reflects, when appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

ii) Contingent Liability

Contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and the existence of which will be
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one are more uncertain {uture events not wholly within
the control of the Institute, or is a present obligation that arises from past event bul is not recognised because
either it is not probable that an outtlow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required 1o seitle the
obligation, or a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation cannot be made. Contingent liabilitics are
disclosed and nol recognised.
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ii) Decommissioning liability

The Company records a provision for decommissioning costs of leasehold premises. Decommissioning costs
are provided at the present value of expected costs to settle the obligation using estimated cash flows and are
recognised as part of the cost of the particular asset. The cash flows are discounted at a current pre-tax rate that
reflects the risks specific to the decommissioning liability. The unwinding of the discount is expensed as
incurred and recognised in the statement of profit and loss as a finance cost. The estimated future costs of
decommissioning are reviewed annually and adjusted as appropriate. Changes in the estimated future costs or
in the discount rate applied are added to or deducted from the cost of the asset.

Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or
equity instrument of another entity.

Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not recorded at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Trade
receivables are initially measured at transaction price. Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within a time frame established by regulation or convention in the market place (regular way trades)
are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in two categories:

1. Financial assets carried at amortised cost
2. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

Financial assets at amortised cost

A “financial asset’ is measured at the amortised cost if both the following conditions are met:

a. The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets for collecting contractual cash

flows, and
b. Contractual tferms of the asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely

payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding.

After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate (EIR) method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included in finance
income in the profit or loss. The losses arising from impairment are recognised in the profit or loss. This category
generally applies to trade and other receivables.

Financial assets at FVTPL

FVTPL i1s a residual category for financial assets. Any financial assets instrument, which does not meet the
criteria for categorization as at amortized cost or as FVTOCI, is classified as at FVTPL.
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Debt instruments included within the FVTPL category are measured at fair value with all changes recognized in
the P&L.

Equity instruments

The Company subsequently measures all equity investments in scope of Ind AS 109 at fair value, other than
investments in equity instruments in subsidiaries, joint venture, which are carried at cost.

Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a Company of similar financial assets)
is primarily derecognised (i.e. removed from the Company’s balance sheet) when:

1. The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or

ii. The company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement;
and either (a) the company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the
company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When
it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control
of the asset, the company continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the company’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the company also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the company has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of
the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the company could be
required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

In accordance with Ind AS 109, the company applies expected credit loss (ECL) model for measurement and
recognition of impairment loss on the following financial assets and credit risk exposure:

i. Financial assets that are debt instruments, and are measured at amortised cost e.g., loans, debt securities,
deposits, trade receivables and bank balance

ii. Trade receivables or any contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset that result from
transactions that are within the scope of Ind AS 18

The company follows ‘simplified approach’ for recognition of impairment loss allowance on trade receivables.
The application of simplified approach does not require the company to track changes in credit risk. Rather, it
recognizes impairment loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date, right from its initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL are the expected credit losses resulting from all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument. The 12-month ECL is a portion of the lifetime ECL which results from default events that
are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the company in accordance with the
contract and all the cash flows that the entity expects to receive (i.e., all cash shortfalls), discounted at the original
EIR. When estimating the cash flows, an entity is required to consider:

1. All contractual terms of the financial instrument (including prepayment, extension, call and similar options)
over the expected life of the financial instrument. However, in rare cases when the expected life of the financial
instrument cannot be estimated reliably, then the entity is required to use the remaining contractual term of the
financial instrument
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ii. Cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.

As a practical expedient, the company uses a provision matrix to determine impairment loss allowance on
portfolio of its trade receivables. The provision matrix is based on its historically observed default rates over the
expected life of the trade receivables and is adjusted for forward-looking estimates. At every reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

In case any balance is disputed by the customer then it will be reviewed separately for creating the provision and
amount up to 100% of the balance may be provided on the basis of nature of dispute. Any disputed balance
which is considered separately will be excluded from the normal ageing bucket for making the provision.

ECL impairment loss allowance (or reversal) recognized during the period is recognized as income/ expense in
the statement of profit and loss (P&L). This amount is reflected under the head ‘other expenses’ in the P& L. The
balance sheet presentation for various financial instruments is described below:

i. Financial assets. measured as at amortised cost, contractual revenue receivables: ECL is presented as an
allowance, 1.e., as an integral part of the measurement of those assets in the balance sheet. The allowance
reduces the net carrying amount. Until the asset meets write-off criteria, the company does not reduce
impairment allowance from the gross carrying amount.

For assessing increase in credit risk and impairment loss, the company combines financial instruments on the
basis of shared credit risk characteristics with the objective of facilitating an analysis that is designed to enable
significant increases in credit risk to be identified on a timely basis.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and borrowings, payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables,
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The company’s financial liabilities include share buyback obligation, trade and other payables, loans and
borrowings including bank overdrafts.

Subsequent measurement
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below:

1. Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss - Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
include financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss. Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the
purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This category also includes derivative financial instruments entered
into by the company that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by Ind AS
109. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments.

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the profit or loss.
Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss are designated as such

at the initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in Ind AS 109 are satisfied. For liabilities designated as
FVTPL, fair value gains/ losses attributable to changes in own credit risk are recognized in OCI. These gains/
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loss are not subsequently transferred to P&L. However, the company may transfer the cumulative gain or loss
within equity. All other changes in fair value of such liability are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
The company has designated CCCPS issued with share buyback obligation, 1o be measured at fair value through
profit or loss.

ii. Loans and borrowings - After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of profit
and loss. This category generally applies to borrowings.

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet if there is
a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

xvii. Impairment of non-financial assets

The company assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If
any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the company estimates the
asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
(CGU) fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. Recoverable amount is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets. When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is
considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market {ransactions are taken into account. If no
such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated
by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded companies or other available fair value indicators.

The company bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations, which are prepared
separately for each of the company’s CGUs to which the individual assets are allocated. These budgets and
forecast calculations generally cover a period of five years. For longer periods, a long-term growth rate is
calculated and applied to project future cash flows after the fifth year. To estimate cash flow projections beyond
periods covered by the most recent budgets/forecasts, the company extrapolates cash flow projections in the
budget using a steady or declining growth rate for subsequent years, unless an increasing rate can be justified. In
any case, this growth rate does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the products, industries, or
country or countries in which the entity operates, or for the market in which the asset is used.

Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of profit and loss.

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is an
indication that previously recognised impairment losses no longer exist or have decreased. If such indication
exists, the company estimates the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment
loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable
amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the
asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined,
net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is
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recognised in the statement of profit or loss unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case, the
reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily
takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the
asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they occur. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing cost also
includes exchange differences to the extent regarded as an adjustment to the borrowing costs.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalent in the balance sheet comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term deposits with
an original maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposits,
as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts (if any) as they are considered an integral part of the
company s cash management. ‘

Business Combinations and goodwill

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, regardless of
whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary comprises the

e fair values of the assets transferred;

e liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business;

e  equity interests issued by the group; and

¢ fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with
limited exceptions (measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-
controlling interest in the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at the
non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net identifiable assets. Acquisition-related
costs are expensed as incurred.

However, the following assets and liabilities acquired in a business combination are measured at the basis
indicated below:
¢ Deferred tax assets or liabilities, and the assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with Ind AS 12 Income Tax and Ind AS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively

The excess of the
e consideration transferred;
¢ amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity, and
e acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recorded as goodwill. If
those amounts are less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the business acquired, the
difference is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as capital reserve
provided there is clear evidence of the underlying reasons for classifying the business combination as a
bargain purchase. In other cases, the bargain purchase gain is recognised directly in equity as capital
reserve.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses, For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Companies cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination,
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irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. A cash
generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently
when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are
discounted to their present value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an
independent financier under comparable terms and conditions.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a
financial liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit
or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not re-measured at subsequent reporting
dates and subsequent its settlement is accounted for within equity.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising from such
remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive income, as appropriate.

Convertible preference shares

Convertible preference shares are separated into liability and equity components based on the terms of the
contract.

On issuance of the convertible preference shares, the fair value of the liability component is determined using a
market rate for an equivalent non-convertible instrument. This amount is classified as a financial liability
measured at amortised cost (net of transaction costs) until it is extinguished on conversion or redemption.

The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option that is recognised and included in equity since
conversion option meets Ind AS 32 criteria for fixed to fixed classification. Transaction costs are deducted from
equity, net of associated income tax. The carrying amount of the conversion option is not remeasured in
subsequent years.

Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and equity components of the convertible preference
shares based on the allocation of proceeds to the liability and equity components when the instruments are initially
recognised.

Change in accounting policies & disclosures
New & Amended Indian Accounting Standards

The Company applied Ind AS 115 for the first time. Several other amendments and interpretations apply for the
first time in March 2019, but do not have an impact on the financial statements of the Company. The Company
has not early adopted any standards or amendments that have been issued but are not yet effective.

i. Ind AS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Company has adopted the Ind AS 115 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” with effect from
April 1, 2018 as notified on March 28, 2018 and establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising
from contracts with customers. The new revenue standard supersedes all previous revenue recognition
requirements under Ind AS. This new standard requires revenue to be recognized when promised goods or
services are transferred to customers in amounts that reflect the consideration to which the Company expects
lo be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Adoption of the new rules has affected the timing of
revenue recognition for certain transactions of the Company. Ind AS 115 permits two possible methods of
transition:
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iii.

- Retrospectively to each prior reporting period presented in accordance with Ind AS 8 [Accounting
Policies, changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors] with the option to elect certain practical
expedients as defined within Ind AS 115 (the full retrospective method); or

- Retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying Ind AS 115 recognized at the date of
initial application (April 1, 2018) and providing certain additional disclosures as defined in Ind AS 115
(the modified retrospective method).

The Company has applied the modified retrospective approach on transition to Ind AS 115.

Amendment to Ind AS 38 Intangible asset acquired free of charge

The amendment clarifies that in some cases, an intangible asset may be acquired free of charge, or for
nominal consideration, by way of a government grant. In accordance with Ind AS 20 Accounting for
Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance, an entity may choose to recognise both the
intangible asset and the grant initially at fair value. If an entity chooses not to recognise the asset initially at
fair value, the entity recognises the asset initially at a nominal amount plus any expenditure that is directly
attributable to preparing the asset for its intended use. The amendment also clarifies that revaluation model
can be applied for asset which is received as government grant and measured at nominal value. These
amendments do not have any impact on the Companies financial statements.

Appendix B to Ind AS 21 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advancé Considerations

The appendix clarifies that, in determining the spot exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income (or part of it) on the de-recognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary
liability relating to advance consideration, the date of the transaction is the date on which an entity initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there
are multiple payments or receipts in advance, then the entity must determine the date of the transactions for
each payment or receipt of advance consideration. This Interpretation does not have any impact on the
Companies financial statements.

Amendments to Ind AS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses

The amendments clarify that an entity needs to consider whether tax law restricts the sources of taxable
profits against which it may make deductions on the reversal of that deductible temporary difference.
Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance on how an entity should determine future taxable profits
and explain the circumstances in which taxable profit may include the recovery of some assets for more
than their carrying amount.

These amendments do not have any impact on the Company as the Company has no deductible temporary
differences or assets that are in the scope of the amendments.
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3. Property, plant and equipment

Compulters/ Office Furniture and Plant and Leasehold
Vehlcles Tolal
Servers* Equipmenls Flx(ures qulr Impr
Gross carrytug value
Al April 1, 2017 2,786 2,018 2,581 287 3,294 3,701 14,667
Additions 1,170 2,340 1,608 1,454 899 1,259 8,730
Dispazals 591 | 9 - 14 45 686
AL Marel 31,2018 3,359 IR 4,160 1,741 4,179 4915 22711
Al March 31, 2018 3,359 4,357 4,160 1,741 4,179 4,915 22,710
Addilions 1,997 4,658 4,168 94 1,899 2,460 15,276
Dispouals 680 192 - - . . 872
AL Murch 31, 2019 4,475 5,523 5318 1835 6074 TA7S ani
Accumulaled depreciatlon and Impairment
Al April 1, 2017 2,189 1,222 1,625 109 1,792 1,961 8,898
Charge for the year 735 8313 767 564 783 871 4,553
Digposals 537 1 11 - il - 563
Al Murel 31, 201% 2,387 2,054 2378 673 2,564 2,832 12,888
AlMarch 31, 2018 2,387 2,054 2378 673 2,564 2,832 12,888
Charge for the year 1,276 2,227 2,091 594 1,196 1,564 8,948
_Disposals 46 170 : : i . K5
AtMareh 31, 2019 3.017 ERIE 469 1267 3,760 1396 21,011
Impatrment Loss
ALApriEY, 2017 9 3 27 - 0 - 39
Al April 1, 2017 9 3 27 - 0 . 39
Charge for the year - - E - -
Other Adiustments (9 [€)] @n - 0) (39)
At March 31, 2018 - - - .
Al March 31, 2018 E
Charge for the year
Other Adjusiments - - - -
At March 31, 2019
et bloek ]
{Hatapce ns on March 31, 2009 1,658 4,721 3850 64 2,318 2,979 16,103
Halance as ot March 31, 201§ 972 2,303 1,782 1068 1,618 2,083 9,513
* Note: Life of server taken as 6 years which is classified under Computers
4. Other Intanglble assels
Intangible Assels
Soflware Cust Non - [ Goodwill * Total
relatiom iy
Gross carrylng value
At April 1, 2017 605 - 605
Purchase 49 49
Disposals - - 3
Al March 31, 2018 654 654
At March 31, 2018 654 - - - 654
Purchase 565 611 17 1,638 2,831
Misposals > . e -
At March 31, 2019 1,219 611 17 1,636 J4AS
Accumulated amortization
Balance as al | April 2017 328 - - - 328
Charge for the year 135 - - - 135
_IHspozals B N . . *
At March 31, 2018 463 - - - 463
Balance asat 1 April 2018 463 - - - 463
Charge for the year 240 3l 1 - 273
Dispasls - - : -
Al March 31, 2019 704 31 1 - 136
Net Block ]
Halanee as on Marel 31, 2019 515 S50 16 1,638 2,749
Ralanee ason March 31,2018 191 - - 1%

“For the purpose of impaimient Lesting, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to the cash generating unit (CGU), which benefit from the synergies of the acquisition

Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually. lmpaiment is recognised, when Uhe camying amount of cash generating unils (CGU) including goodwill, exceeds (he eslimated recoverable
amount of CGU. Future cash flows arc forecast for 5 years & Lhen on perpeluity on the basis of certain assumptions which includes revenue growth, eamings before interest and taxes, laxes,
capital outflow and working capilal requirements. The assumplions are taken on the basis of past trends and managenient estimates and judgement Future cash flows are discounted with

"Weighted Average Cosl of Capilal”.

As al 31 March 2019, the estimated recoverable amount of CGU exceeded ils carrying amount and accordingly, no impairment was recognized

An analysis of the sensitivity of the computation to a chamge in key assumptions based on reasonable probability did nol identify any probable scenario in which the recoverable amount of the

CGU would decrease below its carrying amount

(This space has been intentionally left blank)




Delhivery Private Limited
Notes to standalone financlal statements for the year ended March 31,2019
(A1l amounts in Indian Rupees in lakhs, unless othérwise stated)

5. Financial assets - Investments

Current

March 31,2018

March 31,2019  March 31,2018

Investments at Cost

Investments in Unquoted equity instruments (fully paid)

(A) Investment in subsidiaries

Skynet Logistics Private Limited

5,510,000 ( March 31, 2018 : 5,510,000 ) equity shares of Rs 10 each

Delhivery Corp Limited, London , United Kingdom
1,428,165 (March 31, 2018 : 804,165 ) equity shares of 1 GBP each ( At cost less provision for diminution in
value Rs 1,270 lakhs (March 31, 2018: Nil))

Delhivery HK Pte Limited, Honk Kong *
1 (March 31, 2018: Nil) equity share of 1 HKD each

Investments at fair value through Profit & Loss

(B) Investments in Associates

Investments in Unquoted equity instruments

Leucon Technology Private Limited: 5 ("March 31, 2018 : 5) equity shares of Rs 19,321.60 each

(includes security premium of Rs 19,316.60). (At cost less provision for diminution in value Rs 1 lakhs (March
31, 2018: Rs. Nil))

Investments in Unquoted preference shares

Leucon Technology Private Limited: 4,653 ( March 31, 2018 : 4,653 ) CCPS of Rs 19,321.60 each (includes
securities premium of Rs 19,311.60) (At cost less provision for diminution in value Rs 950 lakhs (March 31,
2018:Rs Nil))

(C) Other Investments

Investments in Unquoted equity instruments

Leapmile Logistics Private Limited: 100 (March 31, 2018 : 100 ) equity shares of Rs 8,836.14 each (includes
securities premium of Rs 8,835.14) (At cost less provision for diminution in value Rs 3 lakhs (March 31,
2018: Rs. Nil))

Moonshots Internet Private Limited: 100 (March 31, 2018: 100) equity shares of Rs 7,494.40 (includes
security premium of Rs 7,493.40) (At cost less provision for diminution in value Rs 7 lakhs (March 31, 2018
Rs 7 lakhs)

NAXR Logistics Private Limited: 2000 (March 31, 2018 : 2,000) equity shares of Rs 10 each (includes
security premium of Rs 1 lakh) (At cost less provision for diminution in value Rs 200 lakhs
(March 31, 2018 : Rs 200 lakhs)

Other Investments
Investments in Unquoted preference shares

Leapmile Logistics Private Limited: 3,472 (March 31, 2018 : 3,472) preference shares of Rs 8,836.14
(includes security premium of Rs 8,835.14) (At cost less provision for diminution in value Rs 117 lakhs
(March 31, 2018 : Rs Nil lakhs)

Moonshots Internet Private Limited: 31,924 (March 31, 2018 : 31,924) preference shares of
Rs. 7,494 40 (includes security premium of Rs 7,493 40) (At cost less provision for diminution in value of Rs
2,393 lakhs (March 31, 2018 : Rs 2,393 lakhs)

NAXR Logistics Private Limited: 105 (March 31, 2018 : 105) preference shares of Rs 10 each
(includes security premium of Rs 14,235) (At cost less provision for diminution in value Rs 15 lakhs
(March 31, 2018 : Rs 15 lakhs)

NAXR Logistics Private Limited: 3,007 (March 31, 2018 : 3,007) preference shares of Rs 10 each
(includes security premium of Rs 0.50 lakh) (At cost less provision for diminution in value of Rs 1,500 lakhs (
March 31, 2018: Rs 1,500 lakhs)

*Value less than INR 0.5 Lakh
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Delhivery Private Limited
Notes to standalone flnancial statements for the year ended March 31,2019
(All amounts in Indian Rupees in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

5. Financial assets - Tnvestments (contd.)

Non-Current

Current

March 31,2019  March 31,2018 March 31,2019  March 31,2018
Investments at fair value through Profit & Loss
(a) Perpetual Bond (Quoted)
Nil (March 31, 2018 : 500) units of 8. 75% State Bank of India of Rs. Nil (March 31, 2018: Rs. 1,048,426.56
each) = 4,994 = =
250 (March 31, 2018: 250) units of Export Import Bank of India of Rs. 9,81,838 (March 31, 2018 10,07,797)
each 2,455 2,484 - -
(b) Non Convertible Debentures (Quoted)
Nil (March 31, 2018 : 300 ) units of 7.71% Kotak Mahindra Prime Ltd of Rs Nil (March 31, 2018 1,000,000 - - 3,000
each) (29 March 2019)
Nil ( March 31, 2018: 40) units of 7.4% Housing Development Finance of Rs. Nil (March 31, 2018 Rs - - . 3,985
10,230,926.85 each) ( 22 November 2018)
Nil (March 31, 2018: 250 ) units of HDB Financial Services Ltd SR-A/1/940PT17.93 OF Rs. Nil (March 31,
2018: Rs. 10,30,026.19 each) ( 7 Dec 2018) _ - ; 2497
100 (March 31, 2018: 400) units of Kotak Mahindra Investment Ltd SR-0017.9NCD of Rs. 10,00,000 each 4.007 1,000
(March 31, 2018: Rs. 10,00,000 each) (5 April 2019) E ’ ’ )
(c) Other Debt instruments (Quoted)
Nil (March 31, 2018: 500) units of Kotak Mahindra Investment Ltd of Rs. Nil (March 31, 2018 : Rs 4,85,724
each) = = 2 2,489
Nil (March 31, 2018: 1,89,26,726) units of HDFC Banking & PSU Debt Fund of Rs. Nil March 31, 2018: Rs
13 each) e - 2 2,661
(d) Mutual fund (Quoted)
Nil (March 31, 2018: 3370 units) of ICICI prudential flexible income plan (March 31, 2018 : Rs 333 each)
- - - 11
667 (March 31, 2018 : Nil) units of Birl Sunlife Floating rate fund of Rs. 300,43 each (March 31, 2018: Rs
Nil) - - 2 -
732,430,758 (March 31, 2018: Nil) units of Aditya Birla Sun Life Overnight fund - Direct Plan -Growth of
Rs.1026.2578 (March 31, 2018: Rs Nil) 7,517 - = s
1,571,879.90 (March 31, 2018 : Nil) Hdfc Overnight Fund - Direct Plan - Growth Option of Rs. 2822.3774
(March 31, 2018: Rs Nil) 44,364 » .
22,038,911.028 (March 31, 2018: Nil ) units of ICICI Pru Ovemight Fund Direct-G of Rs. 102,38 (March 31,
2018:Rs Nil) 22,563 - - =
742,070.79 (March 31, 2018 : Nil) Kotak Overnight Fund - Direct Plan - Growth of Rs, 1012.88 March 31,
2018:Rs Nil) 7516 . i i
729,641.69 (March 31, 2018 : Nil) unit of SBI Overnight Direct-Growth of Rs 3092.3249 (March 31, 2018:
Rs Nil) 22,563 : _ .
289,408.93 (March 31, 2018 : Nil) units of Uti Overnight Fund - Direct Plan - Growth of Rs. 2597.39 (March
31, 2018: Rs Nil) 7517 . ~ )
114,495 11,488 1,002 14,643
115,046 13,797 1,002 14,643
Other disclosures
Aggregate amount of unquoted investments 551 2,312 -
Aggregate provision for impairment in value of investments 6,339 4,115 . -
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Delhivery Private Limited
Notes to standalone financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2019
(All amounts in Indian Rupees in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

6. Inventories

March 31, 2019

March 31, 2018

Inventories
-Packing material and consumables 2,263 1,696
Total 2,263 1,696

7. Trade Receivables

March 31, 2019

March 31, 2018

Trade receivables 21,157

16,175

Total trade receivables 21,157

16,175

Break-up of trade receivables

March 31, 2019

March 31, 2018

Trade receivables

Unsecured, considered good 21,157 16,175

Trade Receivables-credit impaired 5,470 1,794
26,627 17,969

Impairment Allowance (allowance for bad and doubtful debts)

Unsecured, considered good s A

Trade Receivables-credit impaired (5.,470) (1,794)
(5,470) (1,794)

Total Trade receivables 21,157 16,175

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms of 0 to 90 days.

Trade Receivables includes:

Dues from companies in which the company's non-executive directors is a director

Jasper Infotech Private Limited - 307

Oravel Stays Pvt. Ltd. 56 -

Snapdeal Private Limited 202 -
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Declhivery Private Limited

Notes to dal fi ial stat s for the year ended March 31, 2019

(All amounts in Indian Rupees in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

8. Loans

Non-current
March 31, 2019 March 31,2018 March 31,2019 March 31, 2018
Unsecured, considered good
Loans and advances to related parties (refer note 33) - - 938 938
Loans and advances to others 273 331 - -
273 331 938 938
9. Other I'inancial Asscts
Non-current
March 31,2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2019 March 31,2018
Securily deposits
- Unsecured, Considered good 2,893 2,332 2,940 1,762
- Doubtful - - 61 109
2,893 2,332 3,001 1.871
Impairment Allowance (allowance for bad and doubtful balances)
R - (61) (109)
2,893 2,332 2,940 1,762
Margin Money Deposits* 12,627 9,969 147 164
Deposits with original maturity for more than 12 months
4,680 500 5 18,015
17,316 10,469 152 18,179
Advances recoverable in cash or kind
- Unsecured, Considered good** 81 i) 163 192
81 0 163 192
Accrued Income
Unbilled receivable - - 14,131 9,889
Interest accrued on deposits™** 10 0 226 1,751
Interest accrued on investments . - 293 1,139
Interest accrued on inter company deposits (refer note 33)
. = 265 175
10 0 14,915 12,954
20,300 12,801 18,170 33,087

* Margin money deposits are pledged with Las Cargo Pvt limited of Rs. 100 lacs, Ingram Micro India Private Limited of Rs. 67 lakhs ( March 31, 2018 : 82.14 lakhs ), InterGlobe Aviation Limited of Rs
100 Jakhs (March 31, 2018 : 53.67 lakhs) ,Iv] Dhunseri Petrochem Industries Pvt. Ltd of Rs. 25 lakhs (March 31, 2018: Nil), Berger Paints India Limited Rs. 15 lakhs (March 31, 2018: Nil), Pidilite
Industries Limited Rs. 10 lacs (March 31, 2018: Nil), Ms Emami Agrotech Limited ot Rs, 10 lakhs (March 31, 2018: Nil), Skipper Limited of Rs, 10 lacs (March 31, 2018: Nil), Budge Budge Refineries
Limited of Rs. 10 lakhs (March 31, 2018: Nil), Tinolex Cables Limited of Rs.16.00 lakhs (March 31, 2018: Rs. 16 lakhs), Avon Beauty Products India Private Limited of Rs. 10 lakhs (March 31, 2018
:10.66 lakhs ) are subject to first charge to secure the company’s statutory liabilities and Rs. 8,925 lakhs ( March 31, 2018 : Rs, 9,967.45 lakhs ) are subject to first charge to secure the overdraft facility
availed from HDFC Bank, Rs. 2,450 lakhs (March 31, 2018: Nil) margin money deposited to avail the term loan from HDFC Bank and Rs. 1,000 lakhs(March 31, 2018: Nil) to avail the bill discounting

facility from HDFC Bank

Advances recoverable in cash or kind includes
Dues from Officers and directors

**Value less than INR 0.5 Lakh

Break up of financial assets carried at amortised cost

23

23

Non-current

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31,2019 March 31, 2018
Security deposit (Refer Note 9) 2,893 2,332 2,940 1,762
Trade receivables (Refer Note 7) - - 21,157 16,175
Cash and cash equivalents (Reler Note 12) - - 165,967 450
Margin money deposits (Refer Note 9) 12,627 9,969 147 164
Deposits with original maturity tor more than 12 months (Reter Note 9)
4,689 500 5 18,015
Other bank balances (Refer Note 13) - - 79 37
Loans (Reter Note 8) 273 331 938 938
Advances recoverable in cash or kind (Reter Note 9) 81 0 163 192
Accrued Income (Refer Note 9) 10 0 14915 12,954 _
Investments (Refer Note 5) 551 1,241 - =
21,124 14373 206311 50,687
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Delhivery Private Limited

Notes to standalone financial statements for the year ended March 31,2019

(All amounts in Indian Rupees in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

10. Current Tax asscts

Non-current Current
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 Mureh 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Advance Income tax = 5 5.963 3,677
5 5,963 3,677
11. Prepayments and other assets
Non-current Current
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31,2019 March 31,2018
Capital advances
- Unsecured, Considered good 695 135 - -
- Doubtful - 10 = =
695 145 . =
Impairment Allowance (allowance for bad and doubtful balances)
= (10) - 5
695 135 - =
Prepaid expenses 634 282 1,192 1,029
, 634 282 1,192 1,029
Balance with statutory/government authorities - - 2,844 1,975
E - 2,844 1,978
Advance to suppliers
- Unsecured, Considered good - - 833 1,180
- Doubtful . - 15 55
- - B48 1,235
Impainment Allowance (allowance for bad and doubt(ul balances)
. = (15) (55)
= 833 1,180
Others
Amount recoverable trom third party agent- Cash collected on our behalt - - 1,275 1,067
Money Held in Trust - - 12,127 9,011
Less: Liabilities against money held in trust - - (12,127) - (9,011) -
Z z 1,275 1,067
1,329 417 6,144 5,251
12. Cash and Cash equivalent
Non-current Current
March 31, 2019 March 31,2018 March 31,2019 March 31, 2018
Balances with banks:
- On current accounts - 10,967 450 _
-In deposit accounts (with original maturity of less than 3 months)
< - 155,000 -
_ . 165,967 450
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
the following:
Non-current Current
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March31,2019 March 31,2018
Balances with banks:
- On current accounts - 10,967 450 _
-In deposit accounts (with original malurity of less than 3 months)
. - 155,000 -
- - 165,967 450
13. Other bank balances
Non-current Current
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Balances with banks:
— Deposits with original maturity of more than three months but less than 12
months = > 7% 37
- Deposits with original maturity of more than 12 months
4,689 500 5 18,015
— Margin money deposits 12,627 9,969 147 164
17,316 10,469 231 18,216
Amount disclosed as "Other financial asset” (refer note 9) 17,316 10,469 152 18,179
- - 79 37
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Notes to standal 1§ fal stat ts for the year ended March 31,2019
(All amounts in Indian Rupees in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

14. Share cuplial

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

Authorised Share Capital

Equity Shares
1,360,228 (March 31, 2018: 1,360,228) Equity Shares of Rs.10 each

Instruments Entirely Equity in Nature

300,000 0.001% Cumulative Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares (CCCPS) of
Rs.10/- each (Series A)

4,235,337 0.001% Cumulative Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares (CCCPS) of
Rs.100/- each ( Series B, C, D, DI, E and F)

Issued, subscribed and fully paid-up shares

Equity Shares
958,395 (March 31, 2018: 958 395) Equity Shares of Rs_10 each

Instruments Entirely Equity In Nature

291,667 (March 31, 2018: Nil) 0.001% Cumulative Compulsorily Convertible Preference
Shares (CCCPS) of Rs 10/- each Series A

448,719 (March 31, 2018: Nil) 0.001% Cumulative Compulsorily Convertible Preference
Shares (CCCPS) of Rs.100/- each - Series B

478,434 (March 31, 2018: Nil) 0.001% Cumulative Compulsorily Convertible Preference
Shares (CCCPS) of Rs.100/- each - Series C

653,551 (March 31, 2018: Nil) 0.001% Cumulative Corpulsorily Convertible Preference
Shares (CCCPS) of Rs.100/- each - Series D

48,531 (March 31, 2018: Nil) 0.001% Cumulative Compulsorily Convertible Preference
Shares (CCCPS) of Rs.100/- each - Series DI

801,139 (March 31, 2018: Nil) 0.001% Cumulative Compulsorily Convertible Preference
Shares (CCCPS) of Rs.100/- each - Series E

1,457,694 (March 31, 2018: Nil) 0.001% Cumulative Compulsorily Convertible Preference
Shares (CCCPS) of Rs 100/- each - Series F

136 136
30 30
4235 2,735
4401 2,901
26 96
96 96

29

449
478 -
654 -
49 -
801 -
1,458 -
3,917 E

(1) Reconciliation of the shares outstanding ot the beginning and at the end of the reporting year:

Murch 3, 2019 March 31, 2018
Number Rs. lakhs Number R, lnkhs

Equity shores
At the beginning of the year 958,395 96 953,132 95
Issued during the year - - 5.263 1
Outstanding at the end of the year 958,305 6 958,395 96
Instruments Entirely Equity inNature - 0.001% Cumulative Compulsorily Convertible
Preference Shares (CCCPS)
Serles A
At the beginning of the year - - -
Converted to Instruments Entirely Equity in Nature during the year (refer note 17) 291,667 29 - -
Outstanding at the end of the year 291,067 29 <
Series B
At the beginning of the year - - -
Converted to Instruments Entirely Equity in Nature during the year (refer note 17) 448.719 449 -
Outstanding at the end of the year 448,719 449 -
Serles C
At the beginning of the year - - -
Converted to Instruments Entirely Equity in Nature during the year (refer note 17) 478,434 478
Outstanding at the end of the year 478,434 478 - -
Series D
At the beginning of the year - - -
Converted to Instruments Entirely Equity in Nature durng the year (refer note 17) 653,551 654 - -
Outstanding at the end of the year 653,551 654 - -
Serles D1
At the beginning of the year - - - -
Converted to Instruments Entirely Equily in Nature during the year (refer note 17) 48,531 48
Outstanding at the end of the year 48,531 48 -
Serles E
At the beginning of the year - -
Converted to Instruments Entirely Equity in Nature during the year (refer note 17) 801,139 801 - -
Outstanding at the end of the year 801,139 801 - -
Serles F
At the beginning of the year - - -
Shares issued during the year 1,457,694 1.458 -
Outstanding at the end of the year 1,457,694 1,458 » =

4,179,735 3917
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Notes to standalone financial stat nts for the year ended March 31, 2019
(All amounts in Indian Rupees in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

b) Terms/rights attached to equity shares

The company has only one class of equity shares having a par value of Rs 10 per share, Each holder of equity shares is enlitled to one vote per share. In the event of liquidation of the company, the holders of equity

shares will be entitled to receive remaining assets of the company, after distribution of all preferential amounts, The distribution will be in proportion to the number of equity shares held by the shareholders

¢) Terms/rights attached to Instruments entierly equity in nature

The Company had issued 132,779 and 158,888 Series A Cumulative Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares (‘CCCPS’) of Rs. 10 each fully paid-up at a premium of 215,94 per share on 30th April 2012 and
Ist November 2012 respectively, Series B - 448,719 CCCPS of Rs. 100 each fully paid-up at a premium of Rs, 680 per share on 26th Seplember 2013, Series C - 478,434 CCCPS of Rs. 100 each fully paid-up at a
premium of Rs. 2,164 20 per share on 9th September 2014, Series D - 653,551 CCCPS of Rs. 100 each fully paid-up at a premium of Rs. 7,650 per sharc on 8th May 2015, Series D1 - 48,531 CCCPS of Rs. 100
each fully paid-up at a premium of Rs. 9,959 per share on 17th October 2016, Series E - 6,40,911 , 160,228 CCCPS of Rs. 100 each fully paid-up al a premium of Rs, 10,747 per share on 22nd March 17 and 17th
May 2017 respectively and Series F 1,457,694 shares of Rs. 100 each fully paid at a premium of Rs, 19,726 per share on March 7, 2019 and March 29, 2019 respectively.

These CCCPS will be converted into equity shares of the Company at the earlier of: (i) 19 years and 11 months from the date of issue of the respective CCCPS; or (i) if at any time after their issuance, the Company
proposes to file a DRHP for a firmly underwrilten issue of shares to the public, if the Shareholdzrs of the Company have consented to the Qualified IPO under the provisions of the agreement between the company

and the holders of CCCPS

Rank
These CCCPS will be senior to the Equily Shares of the Company.

d) Detaily of shareholders holding more tlan 5% shaves in the company

March 31, 2019

March 31, 2018

Name of the shareholder

% holding in the

% holding In the

No. clnss No. clivgs
Equity shares of Rs.10 cach fully pald
Suraj Saharan 128,199 13.38% 128,199 13.38%
Mohit Tandon 128,752 13.43% 128,752 13.43%
Kapil Bharati 51,752 540% 51,752 5.40%
Sahil Barua 131,285 13.70% 131,285 13.70%
Multiples Private Equity Fund I Limited 270,153 28.19% 270,153 28,19%
Internet Fund III Pre Ltd 180,448 18.83% 180,448 18.83%
0.001% Cumulative Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares (CCCPS) of Rs.10/-
each ( Serles A)
Tines Intemet Limited 291,667 100.00% - -
0.001% Cumulative Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares (CCCPS) of Rs.100/-
each ( Scries B, C, D, D1, E and I)
Times Intemet Limited 197,017 5.07% - -
Nexus Ventures III, Ltd. 726,599 18.69%
SVF Doorbell (Cayman) Ltd 1,235,331 31.77%
Internet Fund 111 PTE Ltd 666,473 17.14% -
CA Swilt Investments 653,915 16 82% - -
Deli, Cmf. Pte.Ltd 223,760 5.76% - -

As per records of the company, including its register of shareholders/ members and other declarations received [rom shareholders regarding beneficial interest, the above shareholding represents both legal and

beneficial ownerships of shares.

(c) Shares reserved for Issue under options

For delails of shares reserved for issue under the employee stock option (ESOP) plan of the company, please refer note 36

15. (a) Other equity

31 March 2019

31 March 2018

Securlties Premiun

Balance as per the last Gnancial statements

Add: ESOPs exercised [transferred Rs. Nil (March 31, 2018: 382 42 Lakhs) from Employee
stock options outstanding]

Add: Securities premium on conversion of CCCPS fiom Financial Liability to Instruments
entirely equity in nature (refer Note 17)

Add: Securities preimium on CCCPS issued during the year (Series F)

Less Share issue expense

Employee Stock Optlons Outstanding

Balance as pei the last financial statements

Add: Employee stock option expense

Less: transferred to securifies premium on exercise of stock options

Retained earnings

Balance as per lasl financial statements

Add: Loss during the year

Add: Re-measurement gains/(losses) on defined benefit plans
Net surplus In (he statement of profit and loss

Itenw of Other Comprehensive Income
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations
Total reserves and surplus

15. (b) Nature and purpose of Reserves

Sccurltles premiun

9,292 8,847
- 445
443,007 i
287,552 -
1374) -
739,477 9,202
5,869 1,103
3,794 5,148

c (382)

9,663 5,869
(232,979) (164,547)
(178,104) (68,446)
) 14
(411,084) (232,979)
29 sl
138,085 (217,766)

Securities premium reserve is used to record the premium on issue of shares. The reserve can be utilised only for limited purposes such as issuance of bonus shares in accordance with the provisions of the

Companies Act, 2013

Forelgn currency translation reserve

Exchange differences arising on tianslation of the foreign operations are recognised in other comprehensive income as described in accounting policy and accumulated in a separate reserve within equity. The

cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss when the net investment is disposed-oft.

Employee Stock Options Outstanding

The share options based payment reserve is used lo recognise the grant date fair value of options jssued to employees under Employee stock option plan
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Notes to standalone flnancial statements for the year ended March 31,2019
(All amounts in Indian Rupees in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

16. Borrowings

Non-current Current
March 31,2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Term Loan
Vehicle Loan from Bank (Secured )* 364 879 610 642
Secured bank loan** 3,198 - 2,311 .
3,562 879 2,921 642
The above amount includes
- Secured Borrowings 3,562 879 2,921 642
Amount disclosed under the head “Other Financial Liabilities ” (note 17) = - (2921 (642)
3,562 879 - -
Others
Bill discounting facility from the Bank (secured) * . . 2,879 1,295
Bank Overdraft repayable on demand (secured) # ; - R 1,902
3,562 879 2,879 3,197

*Vehicle Loans carries interest @8.5% to 9,2% ( March 31, 2018 : 9.5% to 9.8%) per annum and are repayable in 35 equated monthly instalments of Rs 0.19
lakhs(March 31, 2018: 0.16 lakhs) to 0.68 lakhs (March 31, 2018 : 0.49) lakhs along with interest. The loan is secured by hypothecation of respective vehicles,

**oan has been availed from HDFC Bank carrying interest rate @ One year MCLR+0.50% p.a ranging from 8.90% to 9.15% and are repayable in 35 and 30 equated
monthly instalments of Rs, 112.26 lakhs and 113.91 lakhs alongwith interest respectively. The loan is secured by a first charge over certain of the company’s movable
property (not being pledge) and fixed deposits/Cash deposits

+++ Bill discounting facility has been availed from HDFC bank carrying floating rate of interest of 3 months MCLR plus 0.55% ranging from 8.50% to 9.50% (March
31, 2018 : 3 months MCLR plus 1% ranging from 9.5% to 10% ). The facility is on the bills underlying raised with the respective principals

# Bank Overdraft (repayable on demand) is from HDFC Bank Limited, This is secured against margin money deposits. The bank overdraft is repayable on demand and
carries floating rate of interest on Fixed Deposit plus 0.5%, The rate of interest on FD is 6.5% (March 31, 2018 : 8.5%)
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17. Other TI'inancial Liabilities

Non-current

NMarch 31, 2019

March 31, 2018

Current

March 31, 2019

March 31, 2018

Share Buy Back Obligations
Mecasured at I'air Value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
Cumulative Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares(CCCPS)*

Other Financial Liabilitics Measured at Amortised Cost
Interest accrued and not due on borrowings

Currenl maturities of long term borrowings (refer note 16)

- 297,400 - .
= 297,400 = :
= " 37 =
< : 2,921 642
- 297,400 2,958 642

Carrying amount of financial liability and gain/loss on subsequent re-measurement is set out as helow:

Break up of Share buy back obligation
Sha.lre F)uy bac!( Sharebuy back
obligation ( Tair e
obligation ( Cash
i Value Loss over ) ) Sharebuy back
Share buy back received on issue L
obligation as al the years routed of CCCPS in obligation ( Tace
.g through profit & Value of CCCPS)
period/ year end X excess of Face
loss/ retained ©)
. Value
earnings) *
@ B
Financial Year
2015-16 and Years prior to that 126,223 60,581 64,032 1,610
2016-17 237,111 36,486 73,712 689
2017-18 297,400 42.909 17,220 160
2018-19
Till December 20, 2018 (date of removal of buy back clause, refer 445,466 148,066 - -
note below)*
445,466 288,043 154,964 2,459
Less:
Conversion of CCCPS into instruments entirely equity in nature (refer 2,459 - . 2,459
note 14)*
Conversion of CCCPS into Securities Premium (refer note 15)* 443,007 288,043 154,964 -
As at March 31, 2019 ( refer note below) * ~ - - -

* As per the terms and conditions of issue of CCCPS, Company had given a right to the holders of CCCPS to require the Company to buyback CCCPS held by
investors at reasonable approximation of fair market value in the event initial public offering (IPO) do not occur for specified period. The company assessed the
probability of these rights and obligations leading to an outflow of cash or other resources, to be remote. However, based on terms of the agreement and its evaluation
under IND AS 32, the CCCPS had been classified as financial instrument in the nature of financial liability designated to be measured at fair value through profit or loss
at each reporting date until these CCCPS are converted into equily shares as per the conditions stated above,

Fair value of the instruments were determined based on discounted cash flow valuation technique using cash flow projections and financial projections/budgets
approved by the management. Gain/loss on subsequent re-measurement has been recognised through Statement of Profit and Loss and is disclosed as "Fair value loss
on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss".

On transition to IND AS, the Company’s opening balance sheet was prepared as al April 1, 2016, Therefore, the fair value loss on share buyback obligations till the
year ended March 31, 2016 of INR 60,581 Lakhs was recorded in terms of transition provisions directly through opening retained earnings of the company as at March
31, 2016. While, the charge of INR 148,066 Lakhs for the financial year 2018-19, INR 42,909 Lakhs for the financial year 2017-18 and INR 36,486 Lakhs for the
financial year 2016-17, aggregating to INR 227,462 Lakhs has been recognized through Statement of Profit and Loss Account of respective years. This has contributed
into reduction in retained earnings on account of fair value loss on share buy back obligation by INR 148,066 Lakhs for the financial year 2018-19, INR 42,909 Lakhs
for the financial year 2017-18, INR 36,486 Lakhs for the financial year 2016-17 and INR 60,581 Lakhs through opening retained earnings of the company as at March
31, 2016, aggregating to INR 288,043 Lakhs as at March 31, 2019 (March 31, 2018: INR 139,977 Lakhs) and resulting in net balance of INR (411,084) Lakhs as at
March 31, 2019 (March 31, 2018: INR (232,979) Lakhs)

Further, the Company has recorded fair value loss on share buy back obligations during the year of INR 148,066 Lakhs (31 March 2018: 42,909 Lakhs) which has
resulted into Loss before interes, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) of INR 165,735 Lakhs (31 March 2018: INR 62,588 Lakhs)

During the year, the terms and condilions in the shareholders' agreement has been modified to not include the share buy-back clause w e f. December 20, 2018
Accordingly as per the requirements of IND AS, the company has extinguished the financial liability at the time of modification in terms amounting to INR 445,466
Lakhs and credited Instruments entirely equity in nature of INR 2,459 Lakhs and Securities Premium of INR 443,007 Lakhs (INR 288,043 Lakhs pertaining to fair
value changes and INR 154,964 Lakhs securities premium received in cash on issue of CCCPS in respective years) respectively (see also note 14 and 15). It has resulted
into increase in securities premium by INR 288,043 Lakhs on account of fair value changes and resulting in net balance of INR 739,477 Lakhs as at March 31, 2019
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18. Provisions

Non-current
March 31,2019 March 31,2018

March 31, 2019

Current
March 31, 2018

Provision for employee benefits

- Provision for Gratuity (refer note 30) 1,059 677 30 1
- Provision for compensated absences 552 395 93 70
1,611 1,072 123 B1
Other Provisions
Provision for asset retirement obligation 30 27 - -
30 27 - -
Total Provisions 1.641 1,100 123 81
Compensated Gratuity Asset retirement
Movement in above balances: absences obligation
As at April 01 2017 338 403 24
Arising during the year 244 285 3
Utilised (116) © =
As at March 31, 2018 466 688 27
Arising during the year 341 430 30
Utilised (162) (29) :
As at March 31,2019 045 1,089 57
19, Other current liabilities
Non-current Current

March 31,2019 March 31,2018

March 31,2019

March 31, 2018

Others
- Advance from Customers - . 491 483
- Capital Creditors 756 940 - -
- Security Deposit - 235 57
- Employee Welfare Fund - . 131 47
Statutory dues
Withholding tax payable - - 823 545
Provident Fund payable - - 295 173
Employee's State Insurance Payable 44 35
Professional tax payable - - 24 46
Labour Welfare Fund payable - - 1 1
Goods & Service tax payable - - - 13
Amount payable, collected on behalf of the customers - = 2,545 7,266
756 940 4,589 8.666
20. Trade Payables
Non-current Current

March 31,2019 March 31,2018

March 31, 2019

March 31,2018

Trade payable

Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro and small enterprises 248 199

Total outstanding dues of micro and small enterprises(refer note 39 for details

of dues to micro and small enterprises)

18,711 18,451
. . 6 .
248 199 18,717 18,451

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 0-60 days terms
For explanations on the Company’s credit risk management processes, refer to note 35
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21. Revenue from contracts with customers

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

Sale of Services 165,383 101,938
165,383 101,938

152,182 96,468

Income from Delivery Services

Income from Warehousing Services 13,201 5,420
Income from Octroi Processing = 50
165,383 101,938

Impact of application of Ind AS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Company has adopted Ind AS 115 on Revenue from Contracts with Customers, using the modified retrospective approach. The
standard is applied retrospectively only to contracts that are not completed as at the date of initial application and comparative
information is not restated in the statement of profit and loss. The adoption of the standard did not have any material impact on the
recognition and measurement of revenue and related items in the financial statements.

Timing of rendering of services

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Services rendered at a point in time 152,182 96,518
Services rendered over time 13,201 5.420
Total Revenue from Contract with customers 165,383 101,938

Contract Balances
The following table provides information about receivables, contracts assets, and contract liabilities from contracts with customers.

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Trade Receivables (Unconditional right to consideration) 21,157 16,175
Contract assets (Refer note 1 below) 14,131 9,889
Contract liabilities (Refer note 2 below) 491 483

Notes:
1. The contract assets primarily relate to the Company’s rights to consideration for work completed but not billed at the reporting

date. The contract assets are transferred to the receivables when the rights become unconditional.

2. Contract liability relates to payments received in advance of performance against which amount has been received from customer
but services are yet to be rendered on the reporting date. Contract liabilities are recognized once the services are provided, being
performance obligation of the Company.

The allowance for doubtful accounts as of March 31, 2019, and changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts during the 12
months ended on March 31, 2019, were as follows:

Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Opening balance 1,794 1,525
Add: Provision created during the year 3,846 269
Less: write offs, net of recoveries (170) -
Closing balance 5,470 1,794
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22. Other Income

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

Interest Income on
- Bank deposits 2,296 1,975
- Non-current investments 214 967
- Current investments 550 725
- Inter-corporate loans 132 113
- Income Tax refund 93 102
- Unwinding of discount on security deposits paid 202 349
Fair value gain on Investment at fair value through profit or loss 101 144
Net gain on sale of current investments 247 609
Profit on sale of assets 5 -
Miscellaneous Income 274 158
' ' 4,114 5,142
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23. Employee Benefits Expense

March 31, 2019

March 31, 2018

Salaries, wages and bonus 27,908 20,160
Contribution to provident and other funds* 1,848 1,327
Share Based Payment Expense (refer note 36) 3,794 5,148
Gratuity expense (refer note 30) 430 299
Staff welfare expenses 1,557 981

35,537 27,914

* Defined contribution plan

24. Other Expenses

March 31, 2019

March 31, 2018

Line haul expenses 46,873 28,825
Outsourced manpower expenses 26,782 20,993
Vehicle rental expenses 126,921 16,839
Donation Expenses - 9
Rent 16,528 10,075
Security expenses 3,831 2,385
Power, fuel & water charges 6,302 4,258
Packing material 2,900 1,510
Stores and spares 508 376
Lost Shipment expense (net) 2,094 593
Rates and Taxes 98 135
Business development expenses 15 5
Repairs & Maintenance
- Building 944 732
- Computers 116 445
- Others 1,374 1,233
Provision for doubtful debts 2,754 637
Bad debts written off 361 678
Housekeeping Expenses 1,604 950
Provision for doubtful advances 76 173
Brokerage & Commission 2 21
Travelling and conveyance 1,818 1,311
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment/Assets written off - 58
Communication cost 1,880 1,516
Website and technology expenses 4,121 2,536
Fair value loss on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 1,071 213
Legal and professional fees 544 930
Payment to auditor (Refer details below)* 84 69
Director's Remuneration (refer not 33) 264 105
Printing and stationery 592 570
Insurance expense 181 109
Recruiting expenses 167 96
Miscellaneous expenses 824 462
151,629 98,845

*Payment to auditor

March 31, 2019

March 31, 2018

As Auditor;
Audit fee 82 65
In Other Capacity
Reimbursement of expense 2 4
84 69
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25. Depreciation and amortization expense

March 31, 2019

March 31, 2018

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 8,948 4,551
Amortization of intangible assets 272 135
9,220 4,686

26. Finance Cost

March 31, 2019

March 31, 2018

Bank charges 833 790
Interest Expenses : Bank 702 220
Interest Expenses : Others . 24 7
Interest on Bill Discounting 246 102
Payment Gateway Charges 73 54

1,879 1,172

27. Exceptional Items

During the year ended March 31, 2019, diminution in the carrying value of investment in respect of Delhivery Corp UK Limited

amounting to Rs 1,270 lakhs (March 31, 2018: Rs. Nil), [represented by Investments in equity shares] is made.

28. Earnings per share (EPS)

Basic/Diluted EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the loss for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company by the

weighted average number of Equity shares outstanding during the year.

The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted EPS computations:

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Loss attributable to equity holders of the company 178,104 68,446
Weighted average number of equity shares in calculating basic EPS 51 10
Basic earnings per share 3,466 7,148
Weighted average number of equity shares in calculating diluted EPS 53 10
Diluted earnings per share 3,386 6,607
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29 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumplions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in
future periods.
Judgements
In the process of applying the accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:
Estimates and assumptions
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below. The Company
based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions
about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Company. Such
changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.
Share-based payments
Employees of the company receive remuneration in the form of share based payment transactions, whereby employees render services as
consideration for, equity instruments (equity-settled transactions). In accordance with the Ind AS 102 Share Based Payments, the cost of equity-
settled transactions is measured using the fair value method. The cumulative expense recognized for equity-settled transactions at each reporting
date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the company’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The expense or credit recognized in the statement of profit and loss for a period represents the movement in
cumulalive expense recognized as at the beginning and end of that period and is recognized in employee benefits expense.

Defined benefit plans (gratuity bencfits)

The cost of the defined benefit gratuity plan and the present value of the gratuity obligation are determined using actuarial valuations. An actuarial
valuation involves making various assumptions that may differ from actual developments in the future. These include the determination of the
discount rate, future salary increases and mortality rates. Due to the complexities involved in the valuation and its long-term nature, a defined

benefit obligation is highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date.

The parameter most subject to change is the discount rate. In determining the appropriate discount rate for plans operated, the management
considers the interest rates of government bonds in currencies consistent with the currencies of the post-employment benefit obligation.

The mortality rate is based on publicly available mortality table . The mortality table tend to change only at interval in response to demographic

changes. Future salaty increases and gratuity increases are based on expected future inflation rates.
Further details about gratuity obligations are given in note 33.

Tair value measurement of financial instruments

When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the balance sheet cannot be measured based on quoted prices in active
markets, their fair value is measured using valuation techniques including the DCF model. The inputs to these models are taken from observable
markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establishing fair values. Judgements include
considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit 1isk and volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair

value of financial instruments,

Useful Life of property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss, if any. Such cost includes the cost of replacing

part of the plant and equipment. When significant parts of plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Company depreciates
them separately based on their specific useful lives. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, ils cost is recognised in the carrying amount
of the plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and mainlenance costs are recognised in profit
or loss as incurred.

Capital work in progress is stated at cost, net of accumulated impairment loss, if any.

Depreciation on all property plant and equipment are provided on a written-down value method based on the estimated useful life of the asset. The
management has estimated the useful lives and residual values of all property, plant and equipment and adopted useful lives based on
management’s assessment of their respective economic useful lives. The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant
and equipment are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. Depreciation on the assets purchased during the
year is provided on pro-rata basis from the date of purchase of the assets. An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially
recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on
Derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the
income stalement when the asset is derecognised.
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Impairment of investments in subsidiaries
The Company reviews its carrying value of investments carried at amortised cost annually, or more frequently when there is indication for

impairment. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is accounted for.

Impairment of goodwill
The Company estimates the valuc-in-use of the cash generating unit (CGU) based on the future cash flows after considering current economic

conditions and trends, estimated future operating results and growth rate and anticipated future economic and regulatory conditions. The estimated
cash flows are developed using internal forecasts. The discount rate used for the CGU’s represent the weighted average cost of capital based on the
historical market returns of comparable companies.

Business combinations

During the year ended March 31, 2019, the Company made an acquisition (refer Note 34). The assets acquired were recognized at fair value at the
date of acquisition. Goodwill was recognized as the remaining portion of the purchase price that was not allocated to the acquired assets as part of
the purchase price allocation. To determine the fair values of individual assets acquired including property, plant and equipment, non-compete and
customer relationships, complex valuation models based on assumptions were used. This measurement was dependent on estimates of future cash
flows as well as the cost of capital applied.
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30. Gratuity plan

The Company has a defined benefit gratuity plan. The gratuity plan of India is governed by the Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972. Under the Act, employees who are in
continuous service of five years are entitled to specific benefit. The level of benefits provided depends on the employees length of service and salary at retirement age.

The following tables summarize the components of net benefit expense recognized in the statement of profit and loss and amounts recognized in the balance sheet for the

Gratuity:-
Benefit liability March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Opening defined benefit obligation 688 403
Past Service Cost - 1
Interest cost 54 30
Current Service Cost 376 268
Benefits Paid 29) 0)
Actuarial (gain)/ loss on obligation 1 (14)
Closing defined benefit obligation 1,089 688
Expense Recognised in the statement of Profit and Loss
Gratuity Cost for the period March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Current Service Cost 376 268
Past Service Cost - 1
Interest Cost 54 30
Net Gratuity Cost 430 299
Remeasurement gains/(losses) in other comprehensive income March 31, 2019 March 31,2018
Actuarial changes arising from changes in financial assumptions 28 38)
Experience adjustments 27 24
Amount recognised in OCI during the year 1 a4
Actuarial assumptions

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Discount rate 7.56% 7.80%

7.00% 7.00%

Salary Growth Rate
Expected rate of return

Mortality

TIALM 2006-08

1ALM 2006-08

ultimate ultimate
Attrition rate
Upto 30 years 15.00% 15.00%
Between 31 and 44 years 7.00% 7.00%
Above 44 years 2.00% 2.00%
Normal retirement age 60 years 60 years

Discount rate: The discount rate is based on the prevailing market yields of Indian government securities as at the balance sheet date for the estimated term of the
obligations.

Salary escalation rate: The estimates of future salary increases considered taking into account the inflation, seniority, promotion and other relevant factors.
Attrition rate: The estimate of future employee turnover

A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumption as at 31 March 2019 is as shown below:
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

Sensitivity level Discount rate increase by 0.5% Discount rate decrease by 0.5%
Impact on defined benefit obligation (63) (41) 69 45
Sensitivity level Future salary increase by 0.5% Future salary decrease by 0.5%
Impact on defined benefit obligation 64 46 (59) 42

The sensitivity analyses above have been determined based on a method that extrapolates the impact on defined benefit obligation as a result of reasonable changes in
key assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period.
The weighted average duration of the defined benefit plan obligation at the end of the reporting period is 11.11 years (March 31, 2018: 10.99 years).
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31. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating lease commitments - Company as lessee
The company has entered into operating leases on certain premises, with lease term between one to nine years. There is escalation clause on

the lease agreement, There are no restrictions imposed by lease agreements. The total expense during the year is Rs. 16,528 lakhs (March 31,
2018 is Rs. 10,075 lakhs)

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Within one year 3,359 1,214
After one year but more than five years 1,499 1,783

More than five years - -
4,858 2,997

32. Commitments and contingencies

A. Capital and other commitments
a) Capital commitment (net of advances) as on 31 March, 2019 is Rs. 39 Lakhs (31 March 2018: Rs.2,299 Lakhs).
b) Other commitment ( Labour Guarantee- Dubai Branch) as on 31 March, 2019 is Rs. 13 Lakhs (31 March 2018 : Rs. 13 Lakhs)

B. Claims disputed by the Company:

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

Claims against the company not acknowledged as debis* 18,362 5
18,362 5

* The claims against the company comprises of’

(a) An outsourced security vendor has commenced an action against the company in respect of debit notes raised by the company for non -
performance of their agreed duties. The company has estimated that if the action is successful, estimate liability may be approx. Rs. 5 Lakhs
(31 March 2018: 5 Lakhs). A trial date has not yet been set and therefore it is not practicable o slate the timing of any payment. The
company has been advised by its legal counsel that it is possible, but not probable, the action will succeed and accordingly no provision for
liability has been recognized in the financial statements.

(b) The Company received Assessment Order dated December 26, 2018 for FY 2015-2016 i.e. A.Y 2016-17 wherein the Assessing Officer
(AO) raised Income tax demand of Rs 18,357 lakhs under Income Tax Act, 1961. The company has filed appeal in respect of the above
demand which is pending at Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals).

The company has assessed that it is only possible, but not probable, that outflow of economic resources will be required and hence these
demands have been disclosed as contingent liability.

C. There are numerous interpretative issues relating to the Supreme Court (SC) judgement on PF dated 28th February, 2019. As a matter of
caution, the Company has made a provision on a prospective basis from the date of the SC order. The company will update its provision, on

receiving further clarity on subject.
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34. Business combinatlons

351

Acquisition during the year ended 31 March 2019

Aramex [ndia Private Llntted (‘Aramex’)

The company entered into an business purchase agreement with Aramex India Private Limited (‘Aramex’) on February 27, 2019, (o purchase Lhe assets, along with employing all such employees who wanted to be employed

with the company at a total purchase consideration of INR 2,654 lakhs

Assets acquired
The fiit values of the identifinble ssséts of Aramex as at the date of scquisition were:
Particular Amount
Property, Plant and Equipment 388
Customer Relationship 611
Non Compete 17
Goodwill 1638
Purchase Conslderation 2,654
All other disclosures as required under IND AS 103 are inpracticable as:
1) fair valuation was not done of the total consideration transferred or each major class of consideration at the date of acquisition or thereafter,
i) there were no contingent consideration arrangements entered into with the acquiree,
1i1) no contingent liabilities have been recognised,
(iv) there are no such transactions that are recognized separately from the acquisition of assets and assumption of liabilities in the business combination,
(v) the above business combination is not a bargain-purchase
(vi) the above business combination is not achieved in stages
Falr Values
Financial Instruments by category
The carrying value and fair value of financial Instruments by categories as of March 31, 2019 were as follows:
Falir Value through

Partlculars Amortiscd cost profit or loss Carrying value
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents (Reter Note 12) 165,967 - 165,967
Bank balance other than "Cash & cash equivalents"(Refer Note 13) 79 - 79
Investments (current) (Refer Note 5) - 1,002 1,002
Investments (non-current) (Refer Note 5) - 114,495 114,495
Investments in equity securities (non-current) (Refer Note 5) 551 - 551
Trade receivables (Refer Note 7) 21,157 21,157
Loans (non-current) (Refer note 8) 273 - 273
Loans (current) (Refer note 8) 938 = 938
Other linancial assets (Refer Note 9) 38,469 = 38,469
Total 227,435 115,497 342,932
Liabllities:
Trade payables (Refer Note 20) 18,959 18,959
Borrowing (Refer Note 16) 6,441 6,441
Other financial liabilities (Refer Note 17) 2,958 - 2,958
Total 28,358 - 28,358
The carrying value and fair value of flnanclal Instruments by categories as of March 31, 2018 were as follows:

Fair Value through

Partlculars Amortised cost profit or loss Carrying value
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents (Reter Note 12) 450 - 450
Bank balance other than "Cash & cash equivalents"(Reter Note 13) 37 - 37
Investments (current) (Refer Note 5) 3,500 14,643 18,143
[nvestiments (non-curent) (Refer Note 5) - 11,485 11,485
Investments i equity securities (non-current) (Refer Note 5) 1,241 4 1,245
Investments in preference securities (non-curent) (Refer Note 5) - 1,067 1,067
Trade receivables (Refer Note 7) 15,692 - 16,175
Loans (non-current) (Refer note 8) 331 - 331
Leans (current) (Reler note 8) 1,007 - 1,007
Other tinancial assets (Reter Note 9) 42,318 - 42,318
Total 64,576 27,199 92,258
Lilabilities:
Trade payables (Refer Note 20) 18,649 - 18,649
Borrowing (Refer Note 16) 4,076 - 4,076
Share Buy Back Obligations (Reter Note 17) - 297.400 297,400
Other frumenal linbifities (Roter Nate 17) 642 - 642
Total 23,367 297,400 320,767

The following methods / assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

1) The canrying value of trade receivables, cash and cash equivalents, trade payables, security deposits, lease liabilities and other current financial assets and other current financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

approximate thewr fair value due to the short-termy maturities of these instruments

ii) The fair value of non-cunent financial assets and financial liabililies are determined by discounting [uture cash {lows using current rates of instruments with similar terms and credit risk. The curent rates used does not

rellect signitcant changes (rom the discount rates used inilially, Theretore, the carrying value of these instruments measured at amortised cost approximate their fair value
iii) Fair value of quoted mutual funds is based on quoted market prices at the reporting date.
1v) Fair value of debl instruments is estimated based on discounted cash flows valuation technique using the cash flow projections, discount rate and credit risk

v) Fair value of the share buy back obligation is estimated based on discountzd cash flow valuation techinique using cash flow projections and financial projections/budgets approved by the management

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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35.2 (a) Fair value hierarchy

Falr value hierarchy

Level | - Quoted prices in active markets
Level 2 — Significant observable inputs
Level 3 - Significant unobservable inputs

The following table presents fair value hierarchy ol assets and Liabilities measured at Fair value on a recurring basis as of March 31, 2019:

Particulurs Fair value measurement uying

March 31, 2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Liabllities Share Buy Back Obligations - - - -
Assets Investment in Equity Securities - - . -
Assets Investment in Preference Securities - = 2 .
Assels Other Investments 115,497 115,497

The following table presents fair value hierarchy ot assels and liabilities measured at fair value as ot March 31, 2018:

Fale value measuroment using

Particulisrs

March 31, 2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Liabilities Share Buy Back Obligations 297,400 - 297,400 -
Assets Investment in Equity Securities 4 - - q
Assets v Investment in Preference Securities " 1,067 - - 1,067
Assets Other Investments 26,128 26,128 - -

35.2 (b) Falr value hierarchy
Investments in equity/preference securities

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value nieasurement is as follows: March 31, 2019 March 1, 2018

Balance at the beginning of (he year 1,071 1,284

Disposals during the year - -

Fair value loss on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 1,071 213

Balance at the end of the year - 1,071
35.2 (¢) Falr value hierarchy

Tollowing table describes the valuation techniques used and key inputs thereto for the level 3 financlal assets / Habllitles as of 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018:

Financlal Assets Valuation technique(s) Key [nput(s) Sensltivity

i) Discount rate
Investments in equity securities (non-current) (Reter Note 5) ii) Growth rate for long term cash flow projections
Inveshments in prelerence securities (non-current) (Reter Note 5) Reter Note below™ iii) Future cash How projections Refer Note below™™

* The fair values of finanical assets included in level 3 have been determined in accrodance with generally accepted pricing models based on a discounted cashflow analysis, with the most significant inputs being the

discount rate that reflects the credit risk of counter parties.
** Sensilivity to changes in unobservable inputs: The fair value of these financial assets is directly proportional to the estimated future cash flow projections based on the budgets approved by the management. If the cash

flow projections were to increase / decrease by 1% with all the olher variables held constant, the fair value of these financial assets and financial liabilities would increase / decrease by 1%.

35.3 Financlal risk management objectives and policles
Financial risk management

Flnanclal risk factors
The Cornpany's activities expose it to a variety of tinancial nsks: market 1isk, credit nsk and liqudity risk. The Company's tocus is to toresee the unpredictability ot financial markets and seek to minimize potential

Company's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristic of each customer

A) Market risk
Market risk is the nsk that the fair value of future cash lows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three lypes of risk: interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and

other price sk, such as equily price risk and commodity isk. Financial instruments affected by market risk include loans and borrowings, deposits. The Company has in place appropriate risk management policies to Limit
the impact of these risks on its financial performance. The Company ensures opfimization of cash through fund planning and robust cash management practices,

I) Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or (uture cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. As majority of the financial assets and liabilities of the Company are either

non-interest bearing or fixed interest bearing instruments, the Company’s net exposure to interest risk is negligible.

) Forelgn currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the nsk that the fair value or future cash tlows ol an exposure will {luctuate because ol changes m foreign exchange rates. The entire revenue and majorily of the expenses ot the Company are

denominated in Indian Rupees
Management considers currency nsk to be low and does not hedge 11s currency risk. As vanations i foreign currency exchange rates are not expecled to have a significant impact on the resuils ot operations, a sensitivity

analysis is not presented

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk of default on its obligation by the counterparty resulting in a financial loss. The maximum exposure to the credit risk at the reporting date is primarily from trade receivables armounting to Rs
21,156.50 and 16,175,05 Lakhs as of March 31, 2019 and March 31, 2018 respectively. Trade receivables are typically unsecured and are derived from revenue eamed from customers primanly located in India. Credit risk
has always been managed by the company through credit approvals and conlinuously monitoring the credit worthiness of customers to which the Company grants credit terms in the normal course of business. On account of
adoption of Ind AS 109, the group uses expecled credit loss model to assess the impairment loss or gain. The company uses a provision matnx to compute the expecled credit loss allowance for trade receivables. The
provision matrix takes into account available external and intemal credit risk factors such as the company's historical experience for customers.

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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35.3 Financlal risk management objectives and policles (comtd.)

Credit risk exposure

The company has established an allowance tor impairment that represents its expected credit losses in respect of trade and other receivables. The management uses a simplitied approach tor the purpose ot computation ot
expected credit loss for trade receivables and 12 months expected credit loss for other receivables. An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date on an individual basis for major parties, In addition, a large
number of minor receivables are combined into homogenous categories and assessed for impairment collectively. The calculation is based on historical data of actual losses.

Liquidity risk

Ultimate responsibility tor liquidity risk management rests with the Board, which has established an appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Company’s short, medium and long-term
fimding and liquidity management requirements. The company's principal sources of liquidity are cash and cash equivalents and the cash flow that is generated from operations, The Company manages liquidity risk by
maintaining adequate cash reserves, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows, and by matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities

The table below provides details regarding the contractual maturities of significant financial liabilities as of March 31, 2019:

Particulars Less than 1 year 1-2 years 2-4 years > 4 years Total
Trade payables (Reter Note 20) 18,717 248 - - 18,965
Bormrowing (Refer Note 16) 2,879 364 3,198 - 6,441
Other financial liabilities (Refer Note 17) 2,958 - - - 2,958

The table below provides details regarding the contractual maturities of significant financial liabilities as of March 31, 2018:

Particulars ¢ Less than 1 year 1-2 years 2-4 years + >4 years Total
Trade payables (Reter Note 20) 18,451 199 - - 18,650
Borrowing (Refer Note 16) 3,197 879 - - 4,076
Share Buy Back Obligations (Refer Note 17) - - - 297,400 297,400
Other financial liabilities (Refer Note 17) 642 - - . 642

35.4 Capital management

For the purpose of the company’s capital management, capital includes issued equity capital, intfruments entirely equity in nature, securities premium and all other equity reserves attributable to the equity holders of the
company. The primary objective of lhe company’s capital management is to maximise the shareholder value

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to:
« Safeguard their ability to continue as a going concermn, so that they can continue to provide retums for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and
* Maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost ot capital

The Company monitors capital by regularly reviewing the capital structure. As a part of this review, the Company considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with the issued share capital, In the opinion of the
Directors, the Company’s capital risk is low,

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended March 31, 2019 and March 31, 2018.

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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36. Share-based payments
General Employee Share-option Plan (GESP): Delhivery Employees Stock Option Plan, 2012

The company provides share-based payment schemes to its employees. During the year ended 31 March 2019, an employee stock option plan (ESOP) was in
existence. The relevant details of the scheme and the grant are as below:

On 28™ September 2012, the board of directors approved the Delhivery Employees Stock Option Plan, 2012 for issue of stock options to the key employees
and directors of the company. According to the Scheme 2012, it applics to bona fide confirmed and who are in whole — time employment of the company
and as decided by the board of directors of the company or appropriate committee of the board constituted by the board from time to time. The options
granted under the Scheme shall vest not less than one year and not more than four years from the date of grant of options. Once the options vest as per the
Scheme, they would be exercisable by the Option Grantee at any time and the equity shares arising on exercise of such options shall not be subject to any
lock-in period.

Movements during the year
The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and movements in, share options during the year:

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
No. of options WAEP (Rs.)** No. of options WAEP (Rs.)**
Outstanding at the beginning of the year* 150,089 1,154 105,251 899
Granted during the year 70,325 1,854 62,300 1,628
Forfeited during the year (12,964) 1,623 (12,199) 4,743
Exercised during the year - - (5,263) 1,202
Outstanding at the end of the year 207,450 1,377 150,089 1,154
Exercisable at the end of the year 207,450 1,377 150,089 1,154

* Exercise price revised by the company during the financial year 2017 - 18

** Values represented over here are absolute in number, as values are less then Rs. 10,000

The weighted average remaining contractual life for the stock options outstanding as at 31 March 2019 is 2.97 years (31 March 2018: 3.22 years). The range
of exercise prices for options outstanding at the end of the year was Rs 225.94 to Rs. 2985 (31 March 2018: Rs. 225.94 to Rs. 1,509).

The following tables list the inputs to the models used for the GESP plans for the years ended 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018, respectively:

31 March 2019 31 March 2018
Expected volatility (%) 38.00% 12.00%
Risk—free interest rate (%) 6.90% 7.80%
Expected life of share options 4 to 5 years 5 to 6 years
Weiglhted average share price (INR ) 1,377 900
Model used Black Scholes Option Pricing Model

The expected life of the share options is based on historical data and current expectations and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that may occur.
The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility over a period similar to the life of the options is indicative of future trends, which
may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

37. Operating Segments

The primary reporting of the Company has been performed on the basis of business segment. Based on the "management approach" as defined in Ind AS 108 -
Operating Segments, the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM") has evaluated of the Company's performance at an overall level as one segment which is
'Logistics Services' that includes warehousing, last mile logistics, designing and deploying logistics management systems, logistics and supply chain
consulting/advice, inbound/procurement support. and operates in a single business segment based on the nature of the services, the risks and retums, the
organization structure and the internal financial reporting systems. Accordingly, the figures appearing in these financial statements relate to the Company's
single business segment. The Company reports geographical segment which is based on the areas in which major operating divisions of the Company
operate. The significant part of Company operations are based in India.

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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38. Disclosure required under Sec 186(4) of the Companies Act 2013
Included in loans and advance are certain intercorporate deposits the particulars of which are disclosed below as required by Sec 186(4) of Companies Act 2013:

Name of the party Rate of Interest Due date Sccured/ unsecured March 31, 2019 March 31,2018
Mituj Marketing Private Limited 10% per annum 31/03/2021 Unsecured 273 331
273 331

39. Details of dues to micro and small enterprises as defined under the MSMED Act, 2006

There are no Micro, small and medium enterprises, to whom the company owes dues, which are outstanding for more than 45 days during the year and also as at 31st March
2019. This information as required to be disclosed under the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006, has been determined to the extent such parties
have been identified on the basis of information available with the company.

40. As at the year ended on 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018, the Company is having net deferred tax assets primarily comprising of unabsorbed Depreciation and carry
forward Losses under tax laws. However in the absence of reasonable certainty as to its realization of Deferred Tax Assets (DTA), DTA has not been created.

41. Expenditure in foreign currency

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

Legal and professional fees 124 75
Recruiting expenses 6 4
Miscellaneous expenses 207 93
174 56

Website and technology expenses
Staff Welfare Expenses* E ! 0 1

Business development expenses 2 a
Line haul expenses 307 L
Travelling and conveyance* 0 .

820 229

Total
*Value less than Rs. 0.5 Lakh

42. Recent accounting pronouncements-

A) New Standard issued
The Ministry of Corporate Affairs on 30 March 2019 notified the new leasing standard, viz., Ind AS 116 Leases. Ind AS 116 is applicable for the financial year beginning on

or after 1 April 2019 for all Ind AS companies. It replaces virtually all the existing leasing requirements under Ind AS 17 Leases.

The new standard will require lessees to recognize most leases on their balance sheets. Lessees will use a single accounting model for all leases,with limited exemptions.
Foreign currency leases will increase P&L volatility due to a restatement of foreign currency liability. An entity has an option to adopt Ind AS 116 using either the full
relrospective method or the modified retrospective method. An entity that clects the modified retrospective method would apply Ind AS 116 retrospectively to only the current
period by recognising the cumulative effect of initially applying Ind AS 116 as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained carnings (or other components of equity) at the
date of initial application. Under the modified retrospective method, Ind AS 116 would be applied either to all contracts at the date of initial application or only to contracts
that are not completed at this date. An entity would need to disclose how it applied the modified retrospective method.

The Company is in process to evaluate the impact of the new standard on financial statements

B) On March 30, 2019, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA) notificd certain amendments to Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS)

(i) Appendix C to Ind AS 12 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatment

The Interpretation addresses the accounting for income taxes when tax treatments involve uncertainty that affects the application of Ind AS 12 and does not apply to taxes or
levies outside the scope of Ind AS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements relating to interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax treatments. The Interpretation
specifically addresses the following:

* Whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately

» The assumptions an entily makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities

* How an entity determines taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates

* How an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances

An entity has to determine whether to consider each uncertain tax treatment separately or together with one or more other uncertain tax treatments. The approach that better
predicts the resolution of the uncertainty should be followed. In determining the approach that better predicts the resolution of the uncertainty, an entity might consider, for
example, (a) how it prepares its income tax {ilings and supports tax treatments; or (b) how the entity expects the taxation authority to make its examination and resolve issues
that might arise from that examination.

The interpretation is cffective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2019, but certain transition reliefs are available. The Company will apply the
interpretation from its effective date.In addition, the Company may need to establish processes and procedures to obtain information that is necessary to apply the

Interpretation on a timely basis.

(ii) Amendments to Ind AS 19; Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement

The amendments to Ind AS 19 address the accounting when a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement occurs during a reporting period. The amendments specify that when
a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement occurs during the annual reporting period, an entity is required to:

» Determine current service cost for the remainder of the period after the plan amendment, curtailment or settlement, using the actuarial assumptions used (o remeasure the net
defined benefit liability (asset) reflecting the benefits offered under the plan and the plan assets after that event.

* Determine net interest for the remainder of the period after the plan amendment, curtailment or settlement using: the net defined benefit liability (asset) reflecting the benefits
offered under the plan and the plan assets after that event; and the discount rate used to remeasure that net defined benefit liability (asset).

The amendments also clarify that an entity first determines any past service cost, or a gain or loss on settlement, without considering the effect of the asset ceiling. This amounl
is recognised in profit or loss. An entity then determines the effect of the asset ceiling after the plan amendment, curtailment or settlement. Any change in that effect, excluding
amounts included in the net interest, is recognised in other comprehensive income. The amendments apply to plan amendments, curtailments, or settlements occurring on or
after the beginning of the first annual reporting period that begins on or after 1 April 2019. These amendments will apply only to any future plan amendments, curtailments, or

settlements of the Company.
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43. The company in its board meeting dated February 15, 2018 has approved the scheme of amalgamation with Skynet Logistics Private Limited (Transferor Company or
'Skynet"). Skynet is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the company and is engaged in similar related businesses. Through consolidation, the synergies that exist among the entities
in terms of similar business processes and resources can be put to the best advantage of the stakeholders. Accordingly, the company has filed an application with the Hon’ble
National Company Law Tribunal, Delhi Bench, New Delhi on May 17, 2018 with appointment date being the date on which the scheme shall become effective i.e. the date on
which the last of the approvals or sanctions specified in the Scheme shall have been obtained or such other date as may be fixed or approved by the Hon’ble National Company
Law Tribunal, Delhi Bench, New Delhi or any other Appropriate Authority and with effect from which date the Transferor company shall amalgamate. The approval from

Hon’ble National Company Law Tribunal, Delhi Bench, New Delhi or any other Appropriate Authority is yet to be received.
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